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Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited
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Factory Buildings in Heyuan Daiwa Industrial Complex

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to present to shareholders the
annual results of Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its

subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2010.

| am taking this opportunity to express our gratitude to the Group’s staff for

their contributions enabling the Group to work through a difficult year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

Turnover was reported as HK$1,628 million
(2009: HK$1,542 million) for the year
ended 31 March 2010, which indicates an
increase of 6% from last financial year.
Due to special provision for inventories
included in cost of sales in the reported
year, gross profit was lower than its normal
level. Gross profit in the reported year was
HK$116 million (2009: HK$143.5 million)
representing a drop by 19%. However, if
excluding such special stock provision,
gross profit dropped by 3% to HK$139.6
million. The decline in gross profit before
special stock provision was primarily
caused by the decreased turnover and
drop in profit margin in our manufacturing segment. Due to the prolonged
contraction of the American and European markets with the keen competition
from small local Chinese manufacturers, the Group will discontinue certain low-
margin product lines in the manufacturing business segment. Provisions for
inventories and other relevant production assets, mainly tooling & machineries,
in respect of the discontinued product lines and goods return, aggregated to
HK$37.8 million. This sum of provisions in the year under review turned the
initial profitable into a loss result attributable to equity holders of the Company
for HK$31.6 million (2009: HK$7.1 million profit). Before making such special
provisions, the operating profit for the year ended 31 March 2010 was HK$15.5
million (2009: HK$17.3 million). Moreover, in the comparative year ended 31
March 2009, there was a sum of HK$18.2 million gains on disposal of property
and on financial instruments, which did not repeat in the year ended 31 March
2010. By also taking this factor into account, the Group’s operating profitability

can be seen as an increase by HK$16.4 million year-on-year.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010:

- The earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization
(EBITDA) and before special provisions are HK$32.3 million (2009:
HK$35.2 million).

— The operating profit (EBIT) before special provisions is HK$15.5 million
(2009: HK$17.3 million).

- The operating loss after special provisions is HK$22.3 million (2009:

HK$17.3 million operating profit without similar provisions).

In view of the need of the Group’s future development, the Board of Directors
has resolved not to recommend payment of final dividend to shareholders.
During the year, the Group declared and paid an interim dividend of HK0.3 cent

per ordinary share.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

At 31 March 2010, the Group’s net current assets amounted to HK$162.3
million (2009: HK$178.1 million) and the shareholders’ funds were HK$360.6
million (2009: HK$384.1 million). The total bank loan was HK$231 million and
the net gearing ratio which is defined as total borrowings after netting off cash
and cash equivalents, to shareholders’ funds, excluding minority interests,
is 0.18 (2009: 0.19).
HK$166.6 million (2009: HK$124.6 million).

The year-end cash and bank balances increased to

At 31 March 2010,
approximately HK$349 million, of which HK$58 million was unutilized. Finance

total available banking facilities of the Group were

lease obligations were fully repaid during the year (2009: HK$1.1 million).
The Company issued corporate guarantees to banks for granting of banking
facilities to subsidiaries. At 31 March 2010, total amount of corporate guarantee

committed was HK$448 million.
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The Group’s assets are mostly financed by shareholders’ funds, trade payables
Bank

borrowings composed of trade financing repayable within one year and term

and bank borrowings. Trade payables are repayable within one year.

loans repayable in installments for more than one year. Total bank borrowings

as at year end date increased by 18% when compared with last reported year.

The borrowings are mostly denominated in Hong Kong dollars to prevent
currency risk. The Group’s cash and cash equivalents are mainly denominated
in Hong Kong dollars, US dollars, Canadian dollars and Renminbi. The Group
continuously matches the payments and receipts of foreign currency arising
from routine purchases and sales. Combining these methods, the Group is
able to control and minimize the financial cost and exchange risk. Most of the
Group’s borrowings are interest bearing at floating rates which are in reference
to the Hong Kong HIBOR rate. The Group has not engaged in any speculative

derivatives or structured product transactions.

Inventory level increased to HK$236 million from HK$205.3 million of last
financial year to cater for more than 30% increase in sales in the distribution
business segment. Average stock turnover is controlled to less than 60 stock
turnover days. The trade receivables and payables increased in line with the

growth in turnover in our core business of electronic components distribution.

Thanks to the continuous support of our bankers, the Group’s liquidity is
believed not to be affected by the provisions for inventory and tooling &

machineries mentioned above.

In the reported year, the Group repurchased 26,000 ordinary shares in the
open market. The purchase prices ranged from HK$0.28 to HK$0.30 per

share.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT

In this reported year, the labour cost of manufacturing kept increasing due
to the increase of minimum wages,
of Renminbi (“Rmb”).

accordance with its normal production procedures and stocking plans for raw

labour shortage and the appreciation

In the manufacturing segment, the Group operated in

materials. Due to the prolonged contraction of the American and European
markets with the keen competition from small local Chinese manufacturers,
the Group will discontinue certain low-margin and low business entry barrier
product lines in the manufacturing segment. Consequently, the Group decided
to make provisions for inventories, tooling & machineries in the sum of HK$37.8
million in respect of the discontinued products and goods return from an
associated company in the reported year. The bottom line of the Group in
the reported year therefore was dragged down from profitable to loss result.
Excluding these provisions and a sum of HK$18.2 million gains on disposal
of property and on financial instruments in the previous comparative year, the
Group’s operating profitability can be seen as an increase by HK$16.4 million
year-on-year. This was achieved by way of strict discipline in cost management
such that the Group shaved off selling and administrative expenses (excluding
the HK$14.2 million provisions) by HK$18.1 million or 12% in the reported year.

Notwithstanding consolidation in the manufacturing business segment, it was
encouraging to see that business in the electronic components distribution
segment recorded a robust growth.

The Group is engaged in the following major businesses, namely:

— Electronic Components Distribution;

— EMS (Contract Electronic Manufacturing Services);

— Consumer Electronics and Electronic Components Manufacturing; and

- Personal Computer Distribution.

5 aRNEmEERAER QA
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Electronic Components Distribution

Electronic components distribution constitutes the core business of the Group
accounting for 67% of the Group’s turnover in the reported year. This core
business has continued its growth momentum. Turnover of this segment in the
reported year reached a record high to HK$1,083.2 million (2009: HK$795.1
million) representing a growth of 36% when compared with last financial year.
Gross profit was HK$90 million representing a growth of 28% when compared
with last year (2009: HK$70.2 million).

Business in this segment is mainly to act as authorized distributor of various
renowned brand names including the Group’s own manufactured electronic
components. Major customers are manufacturers in Hong Kong and PRC.
Products of this segment includes diodes, transistors, integrated circuits
(IC), power modules, MCU, MCP, CPU, memory chips and display modules
etc. Applications of these components are mobile phones, electronic toys,
power supplies, radio, CD players, DVD players, TV, MP3/MP4 players,
LED lamps, handheld electronic devices and amplifiers. This segment also
provides professional design service for MCUs for solutions of air-conditioner,
MP4 players, electrical bicycles, iPod & iPhone dockings as well as power
management modules. There is strong growth in this segment because of the
development in power supply solutions and focusing on customers of mobile

phones manufacturer in East Asia and the domestic market of China.

The Group has about 30 years of experience in this segment. Other than the
solid base in Hong Kong, the Group is one of the biggest distributors pioneer
to penetrate in the PRC market for more than 20 years. The Group has built
up strong sales network and good logistic foundation in major PRC cities
by the joint management between Hong Kong and local Chinese elites. The
performance of Shenzhen, Shanghai and Beijing sales offices were outstanding
among competitors. In order to explore further business opportunities, the
Group had further strengthened the engineering capability in providing total

solutions to customers and will keep continue bring in new principal suppliers.

The Group has maintained an array of authorized distributorships with
renowned suppliers such as Toshiba, Panasonic, On Semiconductor, On
Bright, Isocom, Johanson, Magnetic, COS, Chino-Excel Technology Corp
(CET), Diodes, Rohm, Arnold Magnetics, LiteOn, CET, Everlight, AEM and Abilis

Systems.
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Beijing, Shanghai and Shenzhen sales divisions kept playing an important role.

The Group has also established sales office in Zhaoging, Chengdu and Xiamen.

EMS (Contract Electronic Manufacturing Service)

The Group engaged in the production of telecommunication modules in
mobile phone base stations, active antennas, radar parts, electronic modules
in automobiles as well as PCB assembly for industrial purpose products. The
facility was equipped with high speed SMT production lines with nitrogen filled
reflow furnaces, precise solder paste screen printer, etc. Process reliability
could be ensured by the in-house RoHS Scanning Systems and X-Ray

Inspection Machine.

The reported year show a rapid deterioration in business climate in North
America and Western Europe. Sales orders from these major markets of
our EMS business were diminished. Our EMS business was contracted to a
turnover of HK$150.4 million (2009: HK$223.5 million), representing a decrease
of 33%. The gross profit before special stock provision decreased by 18% to
HK$18.9 million (2009: HK$23 million) when compared with last year.

With effective and continuous investments in engineering of developments,
manufacturing process and quality assurance, the Group has earned
recognition from core customers not only by continue support of purchase

orders, but also by gaining transfer of business orders from competitors.

The Group also started to explore the possibility of co-development of new
products with customers. The Group believed that this direction of EMS

production will distinguish the Group from its competitors.
Consumer Electronics and Electronic Components Manufacturing
The Group was cautious on the continuous escalating raw material cost and

labour cost; eliminating low profit margin products and keeping the Group from

the risk of losses.
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Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited



Xt
By
oft

President’s Statement

RAFE BEFTHEERRETTEHREELY
EEBA—E=ZFT-ZANTEBL(ZZEZThF:
“E-FRE-TEBL) BEFRBTRESZ
=N EERFRIEFRERN  SS8ENRE LTS
BIL(ZETNE  ZTFTEBL)  BEFRYPTHRES
Ztt=o

ANEEBERFONHRT )  SECHEBIREES
KMEM Pl BB AWEH - iPod &iPhone E &K
BE BN S N E ST aE R/ NS 2 R TR R D sk B0 R
FWEK  WFERCRSIZEPER c TEEZENELE
BERHERNEERTESESEN—RER - WH
BEASBREEBENAER -

SEEUL S EILINT BEVEAEE - DURIES TR LT
REMBTHENBEZE -

BAEHE R EHER

BAEREREHTEERE_BRAT _BEET(Z
ZENFE: ZRENB=T8ET) BEFRHAL
RRLE ZTH MEMNTBEIES>Z TR &
“THBREA+ERL(CETAF: ZTZ=1T8%
TO) e WO EE R T HEZARIERLERR MIRK
HIEAAEKERME -

rzERTREERERAEIL M ZEAERMEHE
%o EmBREIRR BTRR BA LtERFRE-
EhaAE - HESS - M RIER RELFRER
B ERAEM N EMRTE -

RTRBEAERASOES LBRREMGER 0%

ANMERFCHRIFENERBEECAEN - FH
KE BEHBARMESR BETREFHEEELAER

AEMIPhoneAi2ER  WHEERABANBHTER
Canadian Tire K] & °

aNEEERAERAA 8

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited

In the reported year, turnover of consumer electronics and electronic
components manufacturing in the reporting year was HK$132.8 million (2009:
HK$215.2 million) representing a drop by 38%. Gross profit before special
stock provision dropped by 72% to HK$5.7 million (2009: HK$20 million).

To equip the Group in the coming years, new models which were developed
with niche solutions and professional product identities such as sound bars,
iPod & iPhone dockings, multi-interface mini-compo hi-fi as well as special
feature radios directed and maintained attention from direct customers. The
development of new product lines in telecommunications such as cordless
DECT phones and two way radios led the Group into a new era of products.

The Group is starting to play a significant role in this segment.

The replacement of labour force by automatic machines also allowed this

segment be less dependent on the negative effects from labour cost and

supply.

Personal Computer Distribution

Turnover of this segment was HK$262 million (2009: HK$308.3 million) which
represented a decrease of 15% in the reported year. Gross profit decreased by
16% to HK$25.4 million (2009: HK$30.3 million). The decrease in turnover in
this segment was mainly a result of the economic decline in North America and

the global price reduction of personal computer products.

Business in this segment mainly comes from distribution of personal computer
products in North America. Products in this segment include motherboards,
display cards, hard disk drives, optical storage device, computer cases, power
supply, software, memory, desk-top computer, notebook, netbook computers

and computer accessories.

In order to shift part of the concentration in personal computer systems, the
Canada subsidiary has already established a dedicated marketing team in
promoting the notebook computers, memory devices, computer cases and
power supplies. The subsidiary also started to market iPhone accessories
which are produced outside the Group and has already received concrete

orders from mass merchants such as Canadian Tire.
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FUTURE PROSPECT

While there is recent financial crisis in Greece and certain European countries,
the US economy is recovering from the trough of its financial tsunami. The
crisis has caused folding of many businesses in the manufacturing industry
which caused demand to be inadequately met. This shows that the future is full

of opportunities and challenges.

The business outlook of the Group’s core business in distribution of electronic
components is positive. After the efforts in developing the solution of mobile
phone and audio-visual applications in previous years, the Group has gained
fruitful returns from new customers. As the rising living standard in China is
creating a strong demand for electronic products in farm villages including
mobile phones, handheld electronic devices and automobiles, the Group
is keeping its strong penetration in manufactures of these sectors. In the
first quarter after the reported year end, the Distribution Sector continued
to maintain its good performance. At the same time, the Sector is going to
eliminate a non-contributive distribution line and will be replaced by the new
principal supplier — Abilis Systems. The Group has already started to launch

the applications to the rising demand of green illuminations in LED lamps.

In the past years, the Group has successfully integrated 5 production sites into
the two sites in Dongguan and Heyuan. To further concentrate management
efforts and overheads, the Group has started to move its Dongguan operations
to Heyuan production site and is expecting to have a sizable saving of
overheads. At the same time, since the number of manufacturers in the industry
was substantially reduced in the financial crisis, the Group can successfully
gain better pricing both in EMS and consumer electronics products which can

cover the rise of overhead with excess margins.

In the telecommunication sector, the Group has already invested in the R&D
of DECT phones and two-way radios for three years and has started gaining
recognition from customers. The Group has also passed factory audits of new
customers of renowned international brand names in cordless DECT phone
and two way radios. New orders in this sector will most probably replace the
eliminated consumer electronics with satisfactory profit margins in the coming

fiscal year.

9 aRNEmEERAER QA
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The advent of Windows 7 and iPad has excited users to bring in new demand in
personal computers. The subsidiary in Canada has developed new product line
of computer and iPhone accessories selling to mass merchants with hundreds
of retail stores in North America. Customers provided positive feedback and
the Group expects to have further exposures and contributions adding on top

of the personal computer business.

The big provision in the reported year is more or less a one-off provision
and is not expected to be recurring. With growth in electronic component
distribution of new business in telecommunications as well as the effect of cost
consolidation from the production site in Heyuan, the coming financial year will

be a year of turnaround in the overall profitability.

Employees

At 31 March 2010, the Group employed a total of approximately 3,800
employees (31 March 2009: 3,500 employees; 30 September 2009: 3,300

employees) located in Hong Kong, Canada and PRC.

The Group’s remuneration policy is in line with the prevailing market practices
and is determined on the basis of performance and experience of the individual.
Sales personnel are remunerated by salaries and incentives in accordance
with the achievement of their sales target. General staff are offered year-end
discretionary bonuses, which are based on the divisional performance and
individual appraisals. The Group also provides a Mandatory Provident Fund or
ORSO scheme, and medical benefits to all Hong Kong employees. Pursuant to
the terms and conditions of the share option scheme adopted by the Company
on 18 August 2005, the Group may grant share options to directors and eligible

employees. Up to 31 March 2010, no share options had been granted.

The Group is committed to devoting more resources in providing internal and
external training to the employees. In addition to sending staff to participate in
seminars and lectures, the Group continues recommending that qualified staff
take part in professional courses such as the ISO9000, TS16949 and Six-Sigma
Quality Systems. The training programs not only enhance employees’ career
development and professional knowledge, but also contribute to upgrading the

management system of the Group.
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HEFEHBESE FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

UTNEREEBERARAFEZAHES  CENAG - The following is a summary of the consolidated results, assets and liabilities of

the Group for the last five years.

- —FTh —ZEN —TEt —FTRX
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
FET TET T T8 BT
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
3 Turnover 1,628,377 1,642,134 1,911,025 1,787,449 1,540,139
. (Loss)/profit attributable

RS (B1R) /&7
to shareholders (31,630) 7115 6,891 10,994 12,648
BERE Total assets 881,902 745,318 810,902 773,613 685,250
REEEH Total liabilities 520,902 360,747 422,258 402,077 325,833
BEFE Net assets 361,000 384,571 388,644 371,436 359,417
A Share capital 30,394 30,364 30,423 27,814 27,218
i Reserves 330,252 353,732 357,340 342,435 330,953
R Shareholders equity 360,646 384,096 387,763 370,249 358,171
DE RS Minority interests 354 475 881 1,187 1,246
EEarit Total equity 361,000 384,571 388,644 371,436 359,417

11 aRNEmEERAER QA
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY (continued)
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—E-ESEERIEERES CEXR
TURNOVER BY PRINCIPAL BUSINESS SEGMENT FOR 2010

BN ERE ML
Personal computer
distribution (16%)

BT TR
Electronic components
distribution (67 %)

BFEEANEERD
Contract electronic
manufacturing services (9%)

BT HEBERR
BFLEMAEE
Consumer electronics and
electronic componerts
manufacturing (8%)

TE-ZFEERBWEE S ZEXRE
TURNOVER BY GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENT FOR 2010

HAhTIMNER
Other Asian countries

(1%)
B
- Europe (10%)
Hong Kong (59%) S
North America
(17%)
thE AR
Mainland China (13%) e
Turnover
22 TN
2010 2009
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
g e Electronic components distribution 1,083,193 795,098
BETHEANEERS Contract electronic manufacturing services 150,352 223,490
BHEEMN Consumer electronics and
Ef et AE electronic components manufacturing 132,812 215,197
&\ B EE SR A 88 Personal computer distribution 262,020 308,349
1,628,377 1,542,134
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Daiwa Associate Ho\dmgs Limited

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is committed to maintain
good corporate governance standard and procedures to ensure the integrity,
transparency and quality of disclosure in order to enhance the shareholders’

value.

The Company has adopted the principles and complied with all the applicable
code provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”)
as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) for the year
ended 31 March 2010, save for the deviations discussed below. The Board
will continuously review and improve the corporate governance practices and
standards of the Company to ensure that business activities and decision

making processes are regulated in a proper and prudent manner.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTION

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its
own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions (the “Model
Code”).

directors of the Company have confirmed that they have fully complied with the

Having made specific enquiry of all directors of the Company, the

required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31
March 2010.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board focuses on overall strategies and policies with particular attention
paid to the growth and financial performance of the Group. The principal
functions of the Board are to:

(1) establish the strategic direction and development of the Group;

(2) determine the broad policies, strategic plans and performance

objectives of the Group;

(3) monitor management performance;

(4) approve financial plans and annual budgets, major funding proposals,

key funding and investment proposals;
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

(5) oversee the processes for evaluating the adequacy of internal controls,

risk management, financial reporting and compliance;
(6) assume responsibility for corporate governance.

The Board comprises four executive directors and three independent non-

executive directors.

Regular Board meetings are held at least four times a year to approve annual
and interim results, and to review the business operation and the internal
control system of the Group. Apart from these regular meetings, Board

meetings are also held to approve major or special issues.
Four Board meetings were held during the year ended 31 March 2010.

Members of the Board, number of Board meetings held and the attendance of

each member during the year are set out as follows:

HESBERY EESERAE
Number of meetings attended/

Members of the Board Number of Board meetings held

Executive directors

Mr. LAU Tak Wan (President) 4/4
Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky (Vice-president) 4/4
Mr. WAN Chor Fai 4/4
Mr. MAK Hon Kai, Stanly 4/4

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Barry John BUTTIFANT 4/4
Mr. CHOI Yuk Fan 4/4
Mr. LIU Ngai Wing 4/4

15 aRNEmEERAER QA
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Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The Company has received from each independent non-executive directors an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers that all of the independent non-executive directors are

independent.

Given the nature and business objectives of the Company, the Board has a
balance of skill and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business
of the Company. List of directors and their biographical details are set out on

pages 24 to 26.
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under the Code provision A.2.1, the roles of the chairman and chief executive
officer should be separated and should not be performed by the same

individual.

Mr. LAU Tak Wan is the Chairman of the Board and the president of the
Company. In the opinion of the Board, the role of the president and the chief
executive officer is the same. The Board considers that the present structure
provides the Group with strong and consistent leadership and allows for
efficient and effective business planning and execution. Hence, the Board
believes that it is in the best interest of the shareholders of the Company that
Mr. LAU Tak Wan will continue to assume the roles of the Chairman of the
Board and the president of the Company. However, the Company will review

the current structure as and when it becomes appropriate in the future.
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Under the Code provision A.4.1, the non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election and under the Code
provision A.4.2, every director, including those appointed for a specific term,

should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Currently, the three independent non-executive directors are not appointed for
a specific term but are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the provisions of
the bye-laws of the Company, and their appointment will be reviewed when

they are due for re-election.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on, among other things, the Company’s policy and structure for the
remuneration of all directors and senior management of the Company and is
delegated by the Board with the responsibility to determine on behalf of the
Board the specific remuneration packages for all Executive directors and senior

management of the Company.

LEEBERE

EEEEERY

No. of Meeting Attended/

Members of Remuneration Committee: No. of Meeting
Independent non-executive directors

Mr. LIU Ngai Wing (Chairman) 11

Mr. CHOI Yuk Fan 11

Executive director
Mr. LAU Tak Wan 11

17 aRNEmEERAER QA
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established with a specific written terms of

reference.

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing and supervising the financial
reporting process and internal control system of the Group and providing

advice and recommendations to the Board.

Audit Committee is also authorized to obtain outside legal or other independent
professional advice and to secure the attendance of outsiders with relevant

experience and expertise if it considers this necessary.

Two Audit Committee meetings were held during the year ended 31 March
2010.

Members of the Audit Committee, number of Audit Committee meetings held

and the attendance of each member during the year are set out as follows:

HEERRE

EREEEERRE

Number of meetings

attended/Number of

Audit Committee

Members of the Audit Committee meetings held

Members of Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. Barry John BUTTIFANT (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. CHOI Yuk Fan 2/2
Mr. LIU Ngai Wing 2/2

During the year, the Audit Committee has performed the following duties:

(1) reviewed the annual financial statements with the auditor and reviewed
the unaudited interim financial statements, with recommendations to

the Board for approval;

(2) reviewed the changes in accounting standards and policies as well as

assessment of potential impacts on the Group’s financial statements;
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

(3) reviewed the Group’s internal control system and discussed the relevant
issues including financial, operational, compliance controls and risk

management functions;

(4) reviewed the compliance issues with the regulatory and statutory

requirements;

(5) considered and recommended the appointment, re-appointment and
approved the remuneration and terms of engagement of external

auditor;

(6) discussed with external auditor the nature and scope of the audit and

reporting obligations; and

(7) reviewed and monitored external auditor’s independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with

applicable standards.
NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company did not establish a Nomination Committee. The duties and
functions of the Nomination Committee recommended in the Code are
performed by the Board collectively with no director being involved in fixing
his/her own terms of appointment and no independent non-executive director

being involved in assessing his own independence.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the financial
statements of the Group and ensure that the financial statements are in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
The Board also ensure the timely publication of the financial statements of the
Group.

19 aRNEmEERAER QA
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year, PricewaterhouseCoopers, the external auditor of the Company,
provided the following services to the Group and their respective fees charged

are set out as follows:

WE = & A

Type of services Fees charged
FET

HK$’000

Audit services for the Group 2,447
Taxation services 108
Total 2,655

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The directors of the Company acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of the financial statements of the Group for the relevant accounting
periods in accordance with statutory and regulatory requirements. In preparing
the financial statements for the six months ended 30 September 2009 and
for the year ended 31 March 2010, the directors have adopted appropriate
accounting policies and applied them consistently. The financial statements for

the reporting year have been prepared on a going concern basis.

A statement by the auditor about their reporting responsibilities is set out on

pages 35 to 36 in the annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal controls and is
committed to managing business risks and maintaining a sound and effective
internal control system to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and the
Group’s assets. The effectiveness of the internal control system was also

discussed on an annual basis with the Audit Committee.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS (continued)

The Group’s internal control system encompasses its policies, processes,

tasks, and other aspects of the Group that taken together:

M

facilitate its effective and efficient operation by allowing it to respond
appropriately to significant business, operational, financial, compliance
and other risks with a view of achieving business objectives. This
includes the safeguarding of assets from inappropriate use or from loss

and fraud and ensuring that liabilities are identified and managed;

help ensure maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision

of reliable financial information for internal or external reporting; and

help ensure compliance with relevant legislation and regulations, and

also with internal policies with respect to the conduct of business.

The internal control system is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute,

assurance of no material mis-statement or loss and to manage rather than

eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group’s

objectives.
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The Directors submit their report together with the audited financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the electronic components distribution, contract electronic
manufacturing services, consumer electronics and electronic components

manufacturing and distribution of personal computers.

An analysis of the Group’s turnover and contribution to operating profit by

reportable segments for the year is set out in note 5 to the financial statements.
RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated income

statement on page 37.
An interim dividend of HKO.3 cent per share totalling HK$911,000 was declared

on 8 January 2010. The Board of Directors resolved not to recommend

payment of final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2010.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2010 are set

out in note 20 to the financial statements.
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note

18 to the financial statements.
SHARE CAPITAL

Movements in share capital of the company are set out in note 33 to the

financial statements.
WARRANTS

Movements in warrants of the company are set out in note 35 to the financial

statements.
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RESERVES

The amounts and particulars of material transfers to and from reserves during

the year are set out in note 36 to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2010, the reserves of the company available for distribution
amounted to HK$90,311,000 (2009: HK$92,766,000), including contributed
surplus of HK$72,309,000 (2009: HK$72,309,000).

DONATIONS

The Group made charitable donations of Nil (2009: HK$170,000) during the

year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws
and there was no restriction against such right under the laws in Bermuda,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to

existing shareholders.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results, assets and liabilities of the Group for
each of the five years ended 31 March 2010 is set out on pages 11 to 13.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2010, sales to the five largest customers of the
Group in total accounted for approximately 29% of the Group’s total turnover,
with the largest customer accounted for about 9%. The five largest suppliers
of the Group together in total accounted for approximately 65% by value of the
Group’s total purchases during the year, with the largest supplier accounted for
about 49%.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the company’s share capital)

had an interest in the major suppliers or customers noted above.
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DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this report

were:

Executive directors

Mr. LAU Tak Wan (President)

Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky (Vice-president)
Mr. WAN Chor Fai

Mr. MAK Hon Kai, Stanly

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Barry John BUTTIFANT

Mr. CHOI Yuk Fan

Mr. LIU Ngai Wing

Mr. CHOI Yuk Fan and Mr. LIU Ngai Wing retire by rotation in accordance with
clause 99 of the Company’s bye-laws and, being eligible, offer themselves for

re-election.

The terms of office of the directors, including the independent non-executive
directors, are subject to retirement by rotation and are eligible for re-election at
the Company’s annual general meeting in accordance with the Company’s bye-

laws.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive directors

Mr. LAU Tak Wan, aged 60, is the founder and the President of the Group. Mr.
Lau graduated from Hong Kong Baptist College (now known as Hong Kong
Baptist University) in Sociology and has more than 30 years’ management
and production experience in the electronics industry. Prior to founding the
Group, Mr. Lau had over 6 years’ experience in running his own business in
the electronics industry. He is responsible for the overall corporate planning,

strategic development and marketing of the Group.

Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky, aged 53, is the spouse of Mr. LAU Tak Wan.
Ms. Chan is the Vice-president of the Group. Also she is the Director of
Administration and Finance responsible for administration, human resources
and finance of the Group. Prior to joining the Group in 1998, Ms. Chan has
over 20 years of experience in accounting and financial management and at the

same time running her own business for more than 10 years.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Executive directors (continued)

Mr. WAN Chor Fai, aged 52, is the CEO (Manufacturing) of the Group. Mr.
Wan graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University) in Production and Industrial Engineering and is
responsible for the business development and manufacturing management
of the Group. He has more than 20 years’ experience in manufacturing and
marketing. Prior to joining the Group in 1987, he worked for an international
conglomerate and was in charge of the electronics division.

Mr. MAK Hon Kai, Stanly, aged 48, is the CEO (Distribution) of the Group
responsible for the Group’s overall marketing strategy and the distribution of
electronic components. Mr. Mak joined the Group in 1988. He has more than
20 years’ experience in the sales and marketing of electronic components.

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Barry John Buttifant, aged 65, is an independent non-executive Director
appointed by the Group in 1994. In July 2010, Mr. Buttifant rejoined IDT
International Limited as a Chief Executive Officer of the Group. From October
2009 to March 2010, Mr. Buttifant was a director — corporate finance of
Mission Hills Group (“MHG”) and prior to this appointment, he was the
consultant to the Group since December 2008. Prior to joining MHG, Mr.
Buttifant served as a principal of KLC Kennic Lui & Company, a professional
accounting firm, and managing director of KLC Transactions Limited. Prior to
joining KLC, Mr. Buttifant was the executive director — finance of MHG from
February 2008 till November 2008. From December 2004 to December 2007,
Mr. Buttifant was the managing director of Hsin Chong International Holdings
Limited, a controlling shareholder of Hsin Chong Construction Group (“HCCG”)
(which was acquired by MHG in November 2007) and Synergis Holdings Ltd
(“Synergis”) (which was acquired by HCCG in September 2008). Mr. Buttifant
was also an alternate director to both public companies. Mr. Buttifant was
an operating partner of Baring Private Equity Asia Limited. He was also the
managing director of Wo Kee Hong (Holdings) Limited (“Wo Kee Hong”) from
2001 to 2002 and was the Advisor to the board of directors of Wo Kee Hong
from November 2002 to April 2004. Prior to joining Wo Kee Hong, he was the
managing director of IDT International Limited for over eight years and had
worked for Polly Peck Group and Sime Darby Hong Kong Limited for more than
11 years in the capacity of finance director and managing director. He has over
30 years of experience in corporate and financial management. Currently Mr.
Buttifant is an independent non-executive director of Giordano International
Limited, and an non-executive director of HCCG and Synergis, all of which are
publicly listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Buttifant also serves as a non-
executive director of Global-Tech Advanced Innovations Inc. (formerly known as
Global-Tech Appliances, Inc.), a NASDAQ company and China Nepstar Chain
Drugstore Limited, a NYSE listed public company. Mr. Buttifant is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants; the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants; the Chartered Management Institute;
the Hong Kong Management Association and the Hong Kong Institute of
Directors.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Independent non-executive directors (continued)

LIU Ngai Wing, aged 59, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in September 2004. Mr. Liu holds a PhD Degree in
Hotel and Tourism Management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University,
a Master of Science degree in Global Business from the Chinese University of
Hong Kong, a Master of Science Degree in Hotel and Tourism Management
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a Master Degree in Business
Administration from the Open University of Hong Kong. He is also an Associate
Member of both the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators, and a Fellow of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Liu was previously an
executive director of eSun Holdings Limited and an independent non-executive
director of New Smart Energy Group Limited. The above-mentioned companies

are all listed in Hong Kong.

Mr. CHOI Yuk Fan, aged 57, was awarded Bachelor of Laws Degree (LLB) by
University of London in 1988 and Post-graduate Certificate in Laws (PCLL) by
University of Hong Kong in 1991. Mr Choi is one of the Principals of Messrs.
Ong & Chung Co., Solicitors. Mr. Choi was admitted as a Solicitor of the High
Court of Hong Kong in 1993 and a Solicitor of the Supreme Court of England
and Wales in 1994. Before Mr. Choi took up his legal career in 1993, he had
served in the Home Affairs Department for about 13 years (1977-1990).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Senior management

Mr. MAN Wai Chuen, aged 47, is the Company Secretary of the Company and
the head of Accounting Department of the Group. He holds a Master Degree in
business administration from the University of Sheffield. He is a fellow member
of both of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. Mr. Man is also an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He had over 20

years’ company secretarial and accounting experience.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company and these service contracts will continue thereafter until terminated

by either party for not less than three or six months’ prior written notice.

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of

compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Apart from the directors’ service contracts noted above and the connected
transactions noted as below, no other contracts of significance in relation to
the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the

year.
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(a) RAEARESREEIOETZRAFE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

At 31 March 2010, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief
executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which were required, pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they are taken
or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange, or which were required, pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register kept by the Company, or
which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers in the Listing Rules, to be notified to the

Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:
(a) Long position in the Company’s shares of HK$0.10 each

BRITEER/FEIR
FEERD < 8A
Number of issued ordinary shares/
underlying shares attached to derivatives

FEmARER BRATEER

Unlisted Warrants Ordinary shares in issue

EEER AR EEER A 2y
EEi% Corporate i Personal hi# Corporate M Other Total BAtk
Name of directors interests Notes interests Notes interests Notes interests interests  Percentage
S cyt
Mr. LAU Tak Wan 7,862,388 2 6,557,141 1 147,706,499 283 1,142,854 155,406,494 51.13%
Ripsxt
Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky 7,862,388 2 4,042,854 1 147,706,499 283 3,667,141 155,406,494 51.13%
FHRBRE
Mr. WAN Chor Fai - 50,000 - - 50,000 0.016%
EHARE
Mr. Barry John BUTTIFANT - 100,000 - - 100,000 0.033%
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BEERERSTHRAERADQTREM
EHRBEE KRG - HBERO R EE
BZEZRRE®

(a) RAEQATEREEO010BITZROEFA(E)

Mt -

1. BIEARRAL(BIREZRMB) MAEER
AR 2,900,000 % ©

2. China Capital Holdings Investment Ltd
([ China Capital|) Bz B 42 7] 7,862,388
R E R K 586,788,103 % ° China
Capital Z A5 2N+ B BITIRA B 25t £ %
B BRTESZHETEEITRAHRZ L%
ﬁ °

3. Leading Trade Ltd ([ Leading Trade |) Z 25
B EIRH 60,918,396 B © Leading Trade
BOZETERTRABELEEESE 4T
BOZE+EBETRAERLZTESR -

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

(a) Long position in the Company’s shares of HK$0.10 each

(continued)

Notes:

1. 2,900,000 shares in the Company were jointly held by Mr. Lau and Ms.
Chan (the spouse of Mr. Lau).

2. 7,862,388 warrants and 86,788,103 shares in the Company were
beneficially owned by China Capital Holdings Investment Ltd (“China
Capital”). The issued share capital of China Capital is 60% owned by Mr.
Lau, and 40% owned by Ms. Chan.

3. 60,918,396 shares in the Company were beneficially owned by Leading
Trade Ltd (“Leading Trade”). The issued share capital of Leading Trade is
50% owned by Mr. Lau and 50% owned by Ms. Chan.
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EHBEIE2RSL  HERGORERE
BeERRAE

(b) RAQXTANEBRBEEEZRNH

BEEN

Dominion International Limited f1 215

R TS WA TS 2 A+

Cosmos Wires and Connectors Manufacturing Limited

Westpac Digital Limited

BREXARRAA

Vastpoint Industrial Limited

BN EERAT

Daiwa Associate (H.K.) Limited

eSS - %Jf'ai&li%ézi/ IBERHEEEFRE
TEBRAE 2 ERERELER7 140,000 &
510,000 % °

BEREEN R-T-FF=A=1+—R  AQ7F
ZEFABRPDITRAERBEZHEATHER AT
Tﬁfﬂﬂﬁﬂmﬁ@(m%i B MHIERGIEXVE) 2

AR O R B P A RIRE S M E RO E
XV*E?@?&W\* BB ARRNR LR 2 R RR
(8 ?‘E*ETF*’*%&E@Eﬁﬂ%@]z%ﬁ%ﬂxi%ﬁ%T’FEJZZE/?%%
BzREGELRR)  RBRBERBREESFMAEERDE
3521\*%%%%9321&”57 BEzELMzERN ‘I'ﬁ =i
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

(b) Shares of associated corporations of the company

Dominion International Limited, which is 50% owned by Mr. Lau, and
50% owned by Ms. Chan:

FEZERERETROEE
Number of non-voting

deferred shares held

50,000

455,000

1,600,000

In addition, each of Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan beneficially owns 140,000
and 10,000 non-voting deferred shares respectively in Cosmotec

Precision Industrial Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2010, none of the Directors, chief
executives of the Company or their associates had any interests or short
positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required, pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to
have taken under such provisions of the SFO), to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange, or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register kept by the Company, or which were
required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers in the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the

Stock Exchange.
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EEEHN

REER  ARATERERBEBREINEREBZE
BRITHRIERITAFEEFNEL -

BEXS

RZZBEZRFAA—B  A&EEBEF—FHWMBEAR -
Daiwa Distribution (Ontario) Inc. » S 2|15 % 5 4 K [R50
BT ERHEB 2 AR —MMEAMRFRET Y 8
Eth# - ABHE-_TTFNA—HBE-T——FHA
=+—H8 - t#=EEr AR 15,332.64 07T ©

RBEETRA > ERAXSBREERS - EERR - £
MZZREFEEGRIIZ A FERERER T - LR
MmE - BRRARRATHEIE

v

R EHRA > LB RBEERSBRERLHER
5.

B EXFESN - REEAR - ARFHEME QRIS E
2TEMRS  DRBEBFEEBAZZMER AR ZGE
F ETRAN ETRRDBSE R DRATIEN

BRES

RZEZRAFENATNR  ARBRETLETRAUE
17 B2 RERAHFBRE (AR - ARRA
TERzEBBREAS(EARE)) BE_T-TF=
A=+ — B AR R AR IR 5 815 0 BB A M AR 3%
ERt BRI B RITE 2 FEARHE -

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or

existed during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

A subsidiary of the Group, Daiwa Distribution (Ontario) Inc., had entered into a
rental agreement in respect of office space in Canada on 1 June 2006 with a
company jointly owned by Mr. Lau Tak Wan and Ms. Chan Yuen Mei, Pinky for
the period from 1 June 2006 to 31 May 2011. Monthly rental paid for the office
premises is CAD15,332.64.

The above constituted a connected transaction under the Listing Rules.
The Directors are of the opinion that the above transaction was entered into
on normal commercial terms and on an arm’s length basis; was fair and
reasonable so far as the shareholders of the Company, taken as a whole, are

concerned.

The above connected transaction constituted an exempted connected

transaction under the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor its subsidiaries had entered
into any connected transactions discloseable by the Company under the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) during the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

On 18 August 2005, the Company adopted a new share option scheme (the
“New Scheme”) in compliance with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, which
replaced the old share option scheme (the “Old Scheme”) in force previously.
The Company has not granted any options under the New Scheme and no

share options were outstanding as at 31 March 2010.
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KBDEMEXARARBRE Z REIAE » REEH
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RAEDXT RGO ERS

Leading Trade Limited
China Capital Holdings Investment Limited
RIBESRE

Mr. Ng Hung Sang
REBRZT(RBEXREZERD)

Ms. Ng Lai King, Pamela (spouse of

Mr. Ng Hung Sang)

FESHERARAF

South China Financial Holdings Limited

Bat -

1. Leading Trade Limited Z 50% & # /3 2115 18 £ £ T
HHRS0%Em BREB LTS - Bt - B
EHMEE S o Leading Trade Limited * 21254 &
BR % 4 ¥9 ¥ 47 & % 560,918,396 * 163,268,882 &
163,268,882 IR A2 Bl f&fh 2 #E 4 o

2. China Capital Holdings Investment Limited 2 60%
BaRBISREEMBEERIONER BRBFE L+
FrEs - it RIEESLEE DS - China Capital
Holdings Investment Limited + 21764 KR 22+ 5 Bl
5 % % 586,788,103 * 163,268,882 [ 163,268,882
RN B 2 e o

B EAEEN RZE-FF=A=+—H ' ARFK
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INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2010, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the following
parties (other than Directors or chief executives of the Company), had an
interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company which are required to be disclosed to the Company under the
provision of Divisions 2 and 3 and Part XV of the SFO, or, who was, directly or
indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
other member of the Group.

Interests in the shares of the Company

HEERRGER —
I EHRRER HERITRG
BERGEHE Interest in wEES L
st Number of  underlying shares — % of the total
Note shares held unlisted warrants issued shares
1 60,918,396 - 20.04%
2 86,788,103 7,862,388 31.14%
47,162,198 — 15.52%
47,162,198 - 16.52%
17,322,198 — 5.70%

Notes:

1. Leading Trade Limited is 50% owned by Mr. LAU Tak Wan and 50% owned by

Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky. Accordingly, Leading Trade Limited, Mr. Lau and
Ms. Chan were deemed by SFO to be interested in 60,918,396, 163,268,882 and
163,268,882 shares of the Company.

2. China Capital Holdings Investment Limited is 60% owned by Mr. LAU Tak Wan
and 40% owned by Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky. Accordingly, China Capital
Holdings Investment Limited, Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan were deemed by SFO to be
interested in 86,788,103, 163,268,882 and 163,268,882 shares of the Company
respectively.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of any other
interest representing 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company
and recorded in the register of Substantial Shareholders maintained under
Section 336 of the SFO as at 31 March 2010.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient public

float throughout the year under review.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the

Corporate Governance Report on pages 14 to 21.

INDEPENDENCE OF
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

INDEPENDENT NON-

The Company has received from each independent non-executive director an
annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers that all of the independent non-executive

directors are independent.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The written terms of reference which describe the authority and duties of the
Audit Committee were prepared and adopted with reference to “A Guide for
Effective Audit Committees” published by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Audit Committee provides an important link between
the Board and the Company’s auditor in matters coming within the scope
of the group audit. It also reviews the effectiveness of internal audit, internal
controls and risk evaluation. The Committee comprises three independent non-
executive directors, namely Mr. Barry John BUTTIFANT, Mr. CHOI Yuk Fan and
Mr. LIU Ngai Wing. Two meetings were held during the current financial year.
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EBE-T-BESAST—ALFEA  ARTRE
B2 % 5 AR A AIME A 26, 000 AR A SR
WEOAOBTEZMY - HERHE2HES - BEAR
B2

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Company purchased a total of
26,000 shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited, all of these shares were cancelled. Particulars of the

shares repurchased are as follows:

ERRORRE BE (BF
Price per share RE5EBRMAX)
A

ROBE RS E R RIEE Total cost
RBAB/ EH Number of shares Highest Lowest (including
Trading Month/Year repurchased price paid price paid expenses)
BT BT BT
HK$ HK$ HK$

ZZTNEFMNA
April 2009 26,000 0.300 0.280 7,710
26,000 7,710

B B EES  ARRXEEAMBRARERE T —
TEZAZT-ALFEAMERE  HEIRWEEMR
AABZ EWES -

BB

AEEPHRRCEMBERFAEGTRIEHENER
ZIZBEMERER  ENEER - BEREE -

FEEGDm
288

BB —T-ZFEA=-F+/\H
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Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold and redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 March 2010.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who

retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.
On behalf of the Board
LAU Tak Wan

President

Hong Kong, 28 July 2010
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PricewaterhouseCoopers
22nd Floor Prince’s Building
Central, Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLERS OF DAIWA ASSOCIATE HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Daiwa Associate
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
set out on pages 37 to 134, which comprise the consolidated and company
balance sheets as at 31 March 2010, and the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true
and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in
the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2010 and
of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 July 2010
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Hizt
Note
Turnover 5
Cost of sales 8
Gross profit
Other income 6
Other gains — net 7
Selling and distribution expenses 8
General and administrative expenses 8
Operating (loss)/profit
Finance costs — net 10
(Loss)/profit before income tax
Income tax expense 11

(Loss)/profit for the year
Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 14
Minority interests

(Loss)/earnings per share for (loss)/profit
attributable to equity holders of the
Company during the year

— Basic 16

— Diluted 16

Note 15.

For the year ended 31 March 2010

—2-7 =TT
2010 2009
FET FEr
HK$°000 HK$'000
1,628,377 1,542,134
(1,512,405) (1,398,671)
115,972 143,463
678 829
3,575 19,436
(21,421) (26,771)
(121,136) (119,667)
(22,332) 17,290
(3,619) (7,826)
(25,951) 9,464
(5,410) (2,735)
(31,361) 6,729
(31,630) 7,115
269 (386)
(31,361) 6,729

(HK10.42 cents #1ll)

HK2.34 cents 7l

(HK10.42 cents #1ll)

HK2.34 cents 7l

The notes on pages 44 to 134 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Details of dividends payable to equity holders of the Company are set out in
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&R e R aEx Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

\
BZ T ZTF=A=1+—HIFFE For the year ended 31 March 2010

=27 —FTh
2010 2009
FET FEIT
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE (FE) /7B (Loss)/profit for the year (31,361) 6,729
HithiREWas Other comprehensive income:
SN E =R Currency translation differences 10,350 (8,749)
G ZAEEESREEATE Fair value gain/(loss) on available-for-sale financial
Wz, (E518) assets, net of tax 137 (151)
BB 2EEHMEARE Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year,

(B#8) net of tax 10,487 (8,900)
FERFAEE Total comprehensive loss for the year (20,874) (2,171)
BiRs (B18) M RER: Total comprehensive (loss)/income attributable to:

AARERFEA Equity holders of the Company (21,143) (1,765)
DY RS Minority interests 269 (406)
(20,874) (2,171)

RA44BEE134 B Z MisE BB SHRE 2 BEIMD - The notes on pages 44 to 134 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Non-current assets
Goodwill
Property, plant and equipment
Leasehold land and land use rights
Interest in a jointly controlled entity
Interest in an associated company
Deferred income tax assets
Available-for-sale financial assets
Other assets

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and notes receivables
Amount due from an associated company
Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables
Derivative financial instruments
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Equity
Capital and reserves attributable to equity
holders of the Company
Share capital
Reserves

Minority interests
Total equity
Non-current liabilities

Borrowings
Deferred income tax liabilities

Current liabilities
Borrowings
Trade payables
Accruals and other payables
Current income tax liabilities
Derivative financial instruments

Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities
Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

LAU Tak Wan
President

Htat
Note

17
18
19
21
22
32
23

24
25
40

26
31
27

33
36

28
32

28
29
30

31

As at 31 March 2010

== TN,
2010 2009
FET FBT
HK$’000 HK$'000
28,121 22,704
186,385 198,784
20,776 21,312
- 1

927 172

305 168

710 710
237,224 243,851
235,927 205,304
208,270 139,632
4,382 14,855
29,472 16,885
— 235
166,627 124,556
644,678 501,467
881,902 745,318
30,394 30,364
330,252 353,732
360,646 384,096
354 475
361,000 384,571
36,680 34,053
1,877 3,347
38,557 37,400
194,271 161,788
258,709 138,826
27,769 20,083
1,596 2,616

- 34
482,345 323,347
520,902 360,747
881,902 745,318
162,333 178,120
399,557 421,971

CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky

Vice-president

The notes on pages 44 to 134 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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BEEAE Balance Sheet

—FEFF=F=1—H At at 31 March 2010
=27 —FTh
2010 2009
HaE FET FET
Note HK$’°000 HK$’000
FkREBEE Non-current assets
HH B A RKMIRE Investments in subsidiaries 20 44,715 44,723
JE U BT B A A FRIE Amounts due from subsidiaries 40 291,759 294,442
336,474 339,165
REEE Current assets
IR IE Other receivables 26 109 114
AL UK B 5 TR Tax recoverable 30 24
RERBFSEEY Cash and cash equivalents 27 962 599
1,101 737
HEE Total assets 337,575 339,902
= Equity
ANAREZEEAEBELRAR Capital and reserves attributable to equity
B3] holders of the Company
A& AR Share capital 33 30,394 30,364
bt Reserves 36 306,756 309,110
A Total equity 337,150 339,474
FREBAE Current liabilities
FEAS B R M B b A FUOR Accruals and other payables 30 425 428
HEEREE Total equity and liabilities 337,575 339,902
REEEFE Net current assets 676 309
WEERRBERS Total assets less current liabilities 337,150 339,474
2|52 PR 8 B LAU Tak Wan CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky
Aaz Elxa%t President Vice-president
N44 BE 134 B2 HisE B IS MRz 2 BB M - The notes on pages 44 to 134 are an integral part of these financial statements.

aNEEERAERAA 40
Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited



eHEER=E Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

AR —T—TF=-H=1—HIFFE For the year ended 31 March 2010
—=E-F —ZTTA
2010 2009
KiaF FET FrET
Note HK$°000 HK$°000
RETHHERE Cash flows from operating activities
KEFBEE RS Cash generated from operations 37(a) 41,597 68,235
SAAFE Interest paid (4,058) (7,077)
UERF & Interest received 82 224
BERBEBFEBR Hong Kong profits tax paid (3,114) (574)
B R B FE SR Mainland China corporate income tax paid (3,678) (1,943)
BT IMERFAEHIRK Canadian income tax paid (1,863) (764)
RETHEEZFRS Net cash generated from operating activities 28,966 58,101
RETBHZHERE Cash flows from Investing activities
BEYE S KREE Purchases of property, plant and equipment (21,047) (28,623)
HEME  HSREHR Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
+3h Ko £ (E B RERT S equipment, and leasehold land and land use
IR rights 37(b) 118 18,144
RETBHFMAZFERS Net cash used in investing activities (20,929) (10,479)
REIEHCHERE Cash flows from financing activities
BITRIDFTIS IR Proceeds from issue of shares 130 =
B [l AR 7 Purchase of own shares (8) (230)
T IRITE R New bank borrowings 595,432 904,869
EBIRITEN Repayment of bank borrowings (559,244) (926,545)
BEHEERAeYHZ Payment of capital element of finance lease
& EBH obligations (1,078) (1,396)
IR ENEIAN S Vi EsN Dividend paid to a minority shareholder of a
subsidiary (390) -
AR S Dividends paid (2,429) (1,672)
BMETFEEE (T A) Net cash generated from/(used in) financing
activities 32,413 (24,974)
RERBSEEY 2 FEM Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 40,450 22,648
RUA—HZEER Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April
RELEW 124,556 103,388
IEEH 2 E Effect on foreign exchange 1,621 (1,480)
R=A=t—HBzZHER Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March
RELEY 166,627 124,556
MimER 44 BEE 134 B A EHRER 2 BBIH - The notes on pages 44 to 134 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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At 1 April 2009

(Loss)/profit for the year

Other comprehensive
income:
Currency translation
differences
Fair value gains on available-
for-sale financial assets

Total other comprehensive
income

Total comprehensive (loss)/
income

Transactions with owners:
Issue of new shares
Purchase of own shares
Dividends

Total transactions with
owners

At 31 March 2010

aNEEERAERAA

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited

42

RRAEBFHEAREMN

Attributable to equity holders

of the Company

For the year ended 31 March 2010

A& DR RER ERBE

Share e FLEC Minority Total

capital Reserves Total interests equity

TFrETT THET TET FrET TFrET

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(K17 33) (K171 36)
(Note 33) (Note 36)

30,364 353,732 384,096 475 384,571

— (31,630) (31,630) 269 (31,361)

— 10,350 10,350 — 10,350

— 137 137 — 137

— 10,487 10,487 — 10,487

— (21,143) (21,143) 269 (20,874)

88 97 130 — 130

(3) (5) (8) = (8)

— (2,429) (2,429) (390) (2,819)

30 (2,337) (2,307) (390) (2,697)

30,394 330,252 360,646 354 361,000

The notes on pages 44 to 134 are an integral part of these financial statements.



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

AR EBFE ARG
Attributable to equity holders
of the Company

For the year ended 31 March 2010

[N DE B RER bt
Share & e Minority Total
capital Reserves Total interests equity
FrET FET FIET FIET FET
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
(H1a£33) (K1 36)
(Note 33) (Note 36)
R-ZEZEN\FENA—H At 1 April 2008 30,423 357,340 387,763 881 388,644
FEEANE(&HE) Profit/(loss) for the year — 7,115 7,115 (386) 6,729
HitiRE W : Other comprehensive
income:
SN T =R Currency translation
differences — (8,729) (8,729) (20) (8,749)
A E Fair value losses on
CRUEE available-for-sale financial
N {EEE assets — (151) (151) — (151)
HitiRE W85 Total other comprehensive
loss - (8,880) (8,880) (20) (8,900)
Hihim e &8 Total comprehensive loss — (1,765) (1,765) (406) (2,171)
HEREERNRS : Transactions with owners:
i tn @185 Purchase of own shares (59) (71) (230) - (230)
s Dividends - (1,672) (1,672) - (1,672)
HERRERRZEE Total transactions with
owners (59) (1,843) (1,902) — (1,902)
R-ZZBEZAFE=A=+—H At31 March 2009 30,364 53, 722 384,096 475 384,571
RA4BEE134 B2 M AMEHRRER 2 BEEIG - The notes on pages 44 to 134 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Daiwa A&souate Holdings Limited

31 March 2010

GENERAL INFORMATION

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated in Bermuda on 3 February 1994 as an exempted
company under Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. The address of its
registered office is Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 12,
Bermuda. The shares of the Company have been listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 14 April
1994.

The Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the design, development, manufacturing and distribution
of electronic components, contract electronic manufacturing services
and consumer electronics, and the distribution of personal computer
products. The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong, Mainland China
and Canada.

These financial statements are presented in thousands of Hong Kong
dollar (HK$’000), unless otherwise stated. These financial statements
have been approved for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors on
28 July 2010.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

(a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of Daiwa Associate
Holdings Limited have been prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).
They are prepared under the historical cost convention except
that certain financial assets and financial liabilities (including
derivative financial instruments) are measured at fair value, as
appropriate.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in note 4.



B 75 R 3R B =

Notes to the Financial Statements

SFFF=A=T-H

2. EESTHEMEME®

(a)

mEIEE(E)

IRIGFTETER - BRI (EETRZ BRI

2

THUFRETER - LRI ZEFT RABTIR
HEAR_ZENAFMOA— Ak 2&H
eV EH AR o IR THIHATER - £
Al 2 R R B AL BN XA M5
AR B RZE

. EBEHEAIGEITIHG
BEMFIB] — WIS HER
MIE RS RS
BIREAAERED AL
5l o B AR R A HES
BBE 20 A B AERE
B MAA R AN
BR—HRERELS - B
TRE LT — HEYERE(FA
W2k %) D BRUGEE R
BAWNE) AEEDRE
MHBE: IHRR—HES
Wras sk - A UM BRRCRRE
EETHEBREMRY -
REHREN KR R Y L8
T MRS TEY
5,

. BEMBHESERNT[ERT
B REI(B%R) — HIREBK
ESIENE @R TFETE R
B 1 R B B EE o RIS B
B E SRz N FEME 8 BRI
BAFEFE - BRGREHE
B B B QUG B4 H R ANRER -
LS SRR R -

31 March 2010

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Basis of preparation (continued)

Effect of adopting new standards, amendments to standards
and interpretations

The following new standard and amendments to standards are
mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April
2009. The adoption of these new standard and amendments to
standards does not have any significant impact to the results
and financial position of the Group.

o HKAS 1 (Revised), “Presentation of Financial
Statements”. The revised standard requires “non-
owner changes in equity” to be presented separately
from owner changes in equity. As a result, the Group
presents all owner changes in equity in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity, whereas all “non-owner
changes in equity” are presented in a performance
statement. Entities can choose whether to present one
performance statement (the statement of comprehensive
income) or two statements (the income statement and
statement of comprehensive income). The Group has
elected to present two statements: an income statement
and a statement of comprehensive income. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the revised disclosure requirements. Since the
change in accounting policy only impacts presentation
aspects, there is no impact on earnings per share.

o Amendment to HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments:
Disclosures”. The amendment requires enhanced
disclosures about fair value measurement and liquidity
risk. In particular, the amendment requires disclosure
of fair value measurements by level of a fair value
measurement hierarchy. As the change in accounting
policy only results in additional disclosures, there is no
impact on earnings per share.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2. EESHBEME» 2.

(a) mHIEE(E) (a)

Basis of preparation (continued)
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HKFRS 8, “Operating Segments”: HKFRS 8 replaces
HKAS 14, “Segment Reporting”. The new standard
requires a “management approach”, under which
segment information is presented on the same basis as
that used for internal reporting purposes. In addition,
the segments are reported in a manner that is more
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker.

This has resulted in an increase in number of reportable
segments presented — “Electronic Components
Distribution”, “Contract Electronic Manufacturing
Services”, “Consumer Electronics and Electronic
Components Manufacturing” and “Personal Computer
Distribution”.

As the Group’s goodwill is allocated to the “Personal
Computer Distribution” segment, the adoption of the
new standard does not require a reallocation of goodwill.
Accordingly, the adoption of the new standard only
results in additional disclosures and does not have any
impact on the balance sheets. Comparative information
has been reclassified to conform to the current year’s
presentation.
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31 March 2010

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Basis of preparation (continued)

The following amendments to standards and interpretations are

also mandatory for the financial periods beginning on or after 1

April 2009:

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRS 1 and HKAS 27
(Amendments)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)

HKAS 23 (Revised)

HKAS 32 and HKAS 1
(Amendments)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 and HKAS

39 (Amendments)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13

HK(IFRIC)-Int 15

HK(IFRIC)-Int 16

HK(IFRIC)-Int 18

Improvements to HKFRSs
2008!

Cost of an Investment in a
Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled
Entity or Associate

Share-based Payment —
Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations

Borrowing Costs

Puttable Financial Instruments
and Obligations Arising on
Liquidation

Reassessment of Embedded
Derivatives

Customer Loyalty Programmes

Agreements for the
Construction of Real Estate

Hedges of a Net Investment in
a Foreign Operation

Transfers of Assets from
Customers?

! Effective for the Group for annual period beginning 1 April 2009
except the amendment to HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations” which is effective for
annual period beginning 1 January 2010.

2 Effective for transfer of assets received on or after 1 July 2009.

The adoption of these amendments to standards and
interpretations did not result in a significant impact on the
results and financial position of the Group.
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31 March 2010

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2. EESHBEME» 2.

(@) REIEEGE (a)

Basis of preparation (continued)

THER R ZEET KRB R
1B RE AR A 20 B 3 S SR 5R AR

The following standard, amendments to standards and
interpretations have been issued but are not effective for the
year and have not been early adopted:

(b)

BAUBHREER (M) BB HRE%ER HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs
2009 F R ! 2009!
ERMBHREER(BH)  BAMEREES HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs
2010 F A9 E? 20102
BEQHENEUR(ETT) WEALRER? HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures?
BEQENE7H(ETT) SHRBUNBRE HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements’
BEEIEERR(BY) HRaE? HKAS 32 (Amendment) Classification of Rights Issues?
BEEIENE0R (BR) AEARHWER" HKAS 39 (Amendment) Eligible Hedged Items!
BBHEREERE 15 BREREAIH RS HKFRS 1 (Revised) First-time Adoption of HKFRS!
(f&3T) i3
BEMEMEERNE 5% B RE BN HKFRS 1 (Amendment) Additional Exemptions for First-
(B3 time Adopters'
BB REEE 25 SEMRLEENRR HKFRS 2 (Amendment) Group Cash-settled Share-
(530 BERNSER S based Payment Transactions'
BENEREERE % £BAR HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations'
(f&3T)
EAUMHREED9 SRTAS HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments®
B (ERIBaSRE RERFEK B2 HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 Prepayments of a Minimum
RES)RBAS14 (Amendment) Funding Requirment?
(530
Eh(ERTBRERE g A ADK HK(IFRIC)-Int 17 Distributions of Non-cash
ZRE)REALT FRGEE Assets to Owners!
B (ERUBRERE WRATEBHS R HK(IFRIC)-Int 19 Extinguishing Financial
ZE8)REAL19 B Liabilities with Equity

L HAREEM S R2010%F4 A1 HRH
YA S HART AR A o

Instruments'

i Effective for the Group for annual period beginning 1 April 2010

2 HAEEMER2011F4 818 H 2 Effective for the Group for annual period beginning 1 April 2011
PREYFE BRI AE 2K ©
8 HAEEM S N2013F4 18R E Effective for the Group for annual period beginning 1 April 2013
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(b)

The effect that the adoption of HKFRS 3 (Revised) and HKAS
27 (Revised) will have on the results and financial position of
the Group will depend on the incidence and timing of business
combinations occurring on or after 1 April 2010. The directors
anticipate that the adoption of other standards, amendments
to standards and interpretations will not result in a significant
impact on the results and financial position of the Group.

Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial

statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries made up
to 31 March.
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31 March 2010

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b) Consolidation (continued)

()

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities, including special purpose
entities, over which the Group has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies generally
accompanying a shareholding of more than one
half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible are considered when assessing whether
the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are
fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from
the date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account
for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The
cost of an acquisition is measured at the fair value of the
assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities
incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs
directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the
extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of
acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of
the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference
is recognised directly in the consolidated income
statement.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
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A 50

In the Company’s balance sheet the investments
in subsidiaries are stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends
received and receivable.

Transactions with minority interests

The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with
minority interests as transactions with parties external
to the Group. Disposals to minority interests result in
gains and losses for the Group and are recorded in the
consolidated income statement. Purchases from minority
interests result in goodwill, being the difference between
any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired
of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary.

Associated companies

Associated companies are all entities over which the
Group has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and
50% of the voting rights. Investment in an associated
company is accounted for using the equity method
of accounting and is initially recognised at cost. The
Group’s investment in an associated company includes
goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any impairment
loss.

The Group’s share of its associated company’s post-
acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the
consolidated income statement, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in
reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements
are adjusted against the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an
associated company equals or exceeds its interest
in the associated company, including any long-term
interest that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associated company, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associated company.
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31 March 2010

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b) Consolidation (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Associated companies (continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its associated company are eliminated to the extent
of the Group’s interests in the associated company.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of the associated
company have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Jointly controlled entity

A jointly controlled entity is an entity established under a
contractual arrangement whereby the Group and other
parties undertake an economic activity which is subject
to a joint control and none of the participating parties
has unilateral control over the economic activity.

In the consolidated financial statements, investment
in a jointly controlled entity is accounted for by the
equity method of accounting and is initially recognised
at cost. The Group’s share of post-acquisition profits
or losses of the jointly controlled entity is recognised
in the consolidated income statement, and its
share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is
recognised in reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition
movements are adjusted against the carrying amount
of investment. When the Group’s share of losses in the
jointly controlled entity equals or exceeds its interest
in the jointly controlled entity, including any long-term
interest that,
net investment in the jointly controlled entity, the Group

in substance, form part of the Group’s

does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligation or made payments on behalf of the jointly
controlled entity.
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31 March 2010

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Consolidation (continued)
(iv) Jointly controlled entity (continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its jointly controlled entity are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in the jointly controlled
entity. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transactions provide evidence of an impairment of the
assets transferred. Accounting policies of the jointly
controlled entity has been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the executive
directors that make strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar
(“HK$”), which is the Company’s functional and the
Group’s presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items
are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the income statement.
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31 March 2010

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(d) Foreign currency translation (continued)

(iii)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet;

(ii) income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognised
as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign operations,
and of borrowings and other currency instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are taken
to shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is
partially disposed of or sold, exchange differences
that were recorded in equity are recognised in the
consolidated income statement as part of the gain or
loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.
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31 March 2010

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(e)

(f)

Leasehold land and land use rights

Leasehold land and land use rights are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses,
if any. Cost mainly represents consideration paid for the rights
to use the land on which various plants and buildings are
situated for a period ranging from 38 to 69 years from the date
the respective right was granted. Amortisation of leasehold land
and land use rights is calculated on a straight-line basis over the
period of leases.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment other than construction-
in-progress are stated at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Historical
cost includes purchase price of the asset, costs transferred
from construction in progress and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to the working condition and location for
its intended use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the
income statement during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line or reducing balance methods to allocate
cost of each asset to their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, as follows:
Buildings straight-line 2%
Plant and machinery reducing balance 15%
Leasehold improvements, furniture,

reducing balance 10% to 33%
reducing balance 15% to 33%
reducing balance 15% to 50%

fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles
Moulds and tooling

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated on the same
basis as described above.
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31 March 2010

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f)

(9)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. An asset’s
carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount (Note 2(h)).

Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment
are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying
amount and are recognised in the income statement.

Construction-in-progress represents factory premises under
construction and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Cost includes the costs of construction, interest
charges arising from borrowings used to finance these assets
during the period of construction and other direct costs
attributable to the construction. All other borrowing costs are
expensed. No provision for depreciation is made on construction
in progress until such time as the relevant assets are completed
and ready for the intended use. When the assets concerned are
brought into use, the costs are transferred to property, plant
and equipment and depreciated in accordance with the policy
as stated above.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition
over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable
assets of the acquired subsidiaries at the date of acquisition.
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and is carried at cost
less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Impairment losses
on goodwill are not reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal
of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to
the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose
of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash-
generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are
expected to benefit from the business combination in which the
goodwill arose identified according to operating segment.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(h)

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries, an associated
company, and a jointly controlled entity and non-financial
assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life or are not yet available
for use are not subject to amortisation/depreciation, and are
at least tested annually for impairment. Assets are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows (“cash-generating
units”). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment
at each reporting date.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (cash generating unit) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount to the extent that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in the income statement.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries, associated
company and jointly controlled entity is required upon receiving
dividends from these investments if the dividend exceeds the
total comprehensive income of the subsidiaries, associated
company or jointly controlled entity in the period the dividend
is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the
separate financial statements exceeds the carrying amount
in the consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.
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31 March 2010

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

()

Financial Assets

The Group classifies its financial assets into the following

categories: at fair value through profit or loss, loans and

receivables and available-for-sale. The classification depends

on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired.

Management determines the classification of its financial assets

at initial recognition.

(a)

(b)

(c)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is
classified in this category if acquired principally for
the purpose of selling in the short term. Derivatives
are also categorised as held for trading unless they
are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are
classified as current assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determined payments that are not quoted
in an active market. They are included in current assets,
except for maturities greater than 12 months after the
end of the reporting period. These are classified as
non-current assets. The Group’s loans and receivables
include trade and notes receivables, amount due from
an associated company, other receivables and cash and
cash equivalents in the consolidated balance sheet.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives
that are either designated in this category or not
classified in any of the other categories. They are
included in non-current assets unless management
intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months at
the end of the reporting period.
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31 March 2010

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Financial Assets (continued)

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade-date — the date on which the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised
at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not
carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised
at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the income
statement. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all risks and rewards of ownership. Available-for-sale financial
assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables
are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the
‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category are
presented in the income statement within ‘other gains — net’ in
the period in which they arise. Dividend income from financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in the
income statement as part of other income when the Group’s
right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated
in a foreign currency and classified as available-for-sale are
analysed between translation differences resulting from changes
in amortised cost of the security and other changes in the
carrying amount of the security. The translation differences on
monetary securities are recognised in the income statement;
translation differences on non-monetary securities are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Changes in the
fair value of monetary and non-monetary securities classified
as available-for-sale are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or
impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustment recognised in
equity are included in the income statement.
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31 March 2010

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

()

(1)

(k)

Financial Assets (continued)

Interest on available-for-sale securities calculated using the
effective interest method is recognised in the income statement
as part of other income. Dividends on available-for-sale equity
instruments are recognised in the income statement as part
of other income when the Group’s right to receive payments is
established.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at their fair values. The method of recognising the
resulting gains or losses depends on whether the derivative
is designated and qualified as a hedging instrument, and if
so, the nature of the item being hedged. Since the derivative
financial instruments entered into by the Group do not
qualify for hedge accounting, changes in the fair value of any
derivative instruments are recognised immediately in the income
statement.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or
group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a
group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses
are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment
as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or
events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably
estimated.

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of
impairment exists. The amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate. The asset’s carrying
amount is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised in
the income statement.
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31 March 2010

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(k)

(1

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as
an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of
the previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in the
income statement.

In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale,
a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security
below its cost is also evidence that the assets are impaired. If
any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets,
the cumulative loss — measured as the difference between the
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment
loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or
loss — is removed from equity and recognised in the separate
consolidated income statement. Impairment losses recognised
in the separate consolidated income statement on equity
instruments are not reversed through the separate consolidated
income statement.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined by using the weighted average
method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress
comprises raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and
related production overheads (based on normal operating
capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less applicable variable selling expenses.
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31 March 2010

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(m)

(n)

(o)

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.
A provision for impairment of trade and other receivables is
established when there is objective evidence that the Group
will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the
original terms of receivables. The amount of the provision is
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the
original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the assets
is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the
amount of the loss is recognised in the consolidated income
statement within administrative expenses. When a receivable
is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account
for receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited to the income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held
at call with banks and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are
shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance
sheet.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group
are classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument. Financial liabilities (including
trade and other payables) are initially measured at fair value,
and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method. An equity instrument is any contract
that does not meet the definition of financial liability and
evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities.

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs, net
of tax, directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s equity
share capital, the consideration paid, including any directly
attributable incremental costs, is transferred from retained

profits to capital redemption reserve.
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31 March 2010

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(p)

(a)

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated
at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the
income statement over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying
asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required
to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use. All other
borrowing costs are charged to the income statement in the
period in which they are incurred.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred
tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries,
associated company and jointly controlled entity operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.



B 75 R 3R B =

Notes to the Financial Statements

—EZTFE=H=1—H

2. EESTHEMEME»

(r)

EHREEREH ()

BEMBIRREERBEZHEEE
R BBMR AR REE 2 F TR Z5R -
AR EEEH 2 BUEE - A - HET
RSB DELBRR 5 (EBA FER 5N
RHEERRBEZNIHER  MXHE
By 7 B 52 20 & St SR M AR Bl A S B 4R
AT SR - EEMSH I UAREER
EREMAERRM 2B E(RER)E
E o UFRHARERBEMREEMSRHEE
FEZEEREHEERER -

PRERIRIEPT ST B E AT R B R AT 2
HIRERTENBERFEEREZR/A
fR

Bk S 7S B2 58] T 42 o) 488 [ o D Y 2 R 2 B
CIRSEER -4 C RGN IR
KD - AREBERRKBERR - BER

ARAREGERZREMELGRE
BIEHIRTE IS TR -

WA RBEREEETREBMEN
BEESAZHMAEHAEEREHEZER
KARSIRIEFRIS B E R BE S KR —H#
BHEHNEEBBENASHRTR
BBERERRIELLEEESES R
EFSHAERBET) TALREH -

31 March 2010

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(r)

Current and deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or a liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at the time
of the transaction affects neither accounting non-taxable profit
or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries, associated company and
jointly controlled entity, except where the timing of the reversal
of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is legally enforceable rights to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets
and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities
where there is an intention to settle the balance on a net basis.
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A 64

The Group participates in various defined contribution
retirement benefit plans which are available to all relevant
employees. These plans are generally funded through
payments to schemes established by government or
trustee-administered funds. A defined contribution
plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays
contributions on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary
basis into a separate entity. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contributions
if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all
employees the benefit relating to employee service in the
current and prior periods.

All contributions to pension plans are fully and
immediately vested and the Group had no unvested
benefits available to reduce its future contributions.

Bonus plan

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised
as a liability when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of services rendered
by employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation
can be made. Liabilities of bonus plan are expected to
be settled within twelve months and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when they are settled.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet
date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.
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31 March 2010

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(t)

(u)

Leases (as the lessee)

(i) Finance leases

Leases of property, plant and equipment that
substantially transfer to the Group all the risks and
rewards of ownership of assets are classified as finance
leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the inception
of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased
assets and the present value of the minimum lease
payments. Each lease payment is allocated between
the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a
constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. The
corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges,
are included in current and non-current liabilities, where
appropriate. The interest element of the finance cost is
charged to the income statement over the lease period
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on
the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

(ii) Operating leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from
the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a
straight-line basis over the lease periods.

Revenue and income recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable for the sale of goods and services in the ordinary
course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of value-
added tax, returns, rebates and discounts and after eliminating
sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue
can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been
met for each of the Group’s activities as described below. The
Group bases its estimates on historical results, taking into
consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and
the specifics of each arrangement.
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2.

3.

31 March 2010

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(u)

(v)

Revenue and income recognition (continued)

(i) Sales of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when a
group entity has delivered products to the customer, the
customer has accepted the products and collectivity of
the related receivables is reasonably assured.

(ii) Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method.

(iii) Rental income

Rental income under operating leases is recognised on
a straight-line basis over the lease periods.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the
Company’s shareholders or directors, where appropriate.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign exchange risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, and
cash flow and fair value interest-rate risks. The Group’s overall
risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group’s financial performance.

Management regularly monitors the financial risks of the Group.
The use of derivative financial instruments to hedge certain
risk exposures is governed by the Group’s policies approved
by the Board of Directors of the Company. The Group would
occasionally enter into certain forward foreign exchange
contracts to manage its exchange risks. The Group does not
use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.
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31 March 2010

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(a)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, the Mainland
China and Canada with most of the transactions settled
in United States dollar (“US$”), HK$, Chinese Renminbi
(“RMB”) and Canadian dollar (“CAD”). Foreign exchange
risk arises when future commercial transactions or
recognised assets or liabilities are denominated in a
currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. The
Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect to US$, CAD
and RMB. Since HK$ is pegged to US$, management
are of the opinion that the exchange rate risk exposure
arising from US#$ is insignificant.

Management has a policy to require group companies
to manage their foreign exchange risk against their
functional currencies. It mainly includes managing the
exposures arise from sales and purchases made by the
relevant group companies in currencies other than their
own functional currencies. The Group also manages
its foreign exchange risk by performing regular reviews
of the Group’s net foreign exchange exposures and
would consider the use of foreign exchange contracts to
manage its foreign exchange risks, where appropriate.
As at 31 March 2010, the Group did not have any
outstanding foreign exchange contracts.

As at 31 March 2010, the amount due from an
associated company, certain of the Group’s receivables,
cash and bank balances and trade payables were also
denominated in foreign currencies, details of which have
been disclosed in the respective notes to the financial
statements.

At 31 March 2010, if HK$ had weakened/strengthened
by 5% against RMB, with all other variables held
constant, post-tax loss for the year (2009: post-tax
profit) would have been approximately HK$160,000
lower/higher (2009: HK$161,000 lower/higher), mainly as
a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation
of RMB-denominated financial assets and liabilities.
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The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk in
respect of investments held by the Group which are
classified as available-for-sale. As the available-for-sale
financial assets are relatively insignificant to the Group,
management considers that any reasonable changes
in the fair value of the available-for-sale financial assets
would not have a significant financial impact to the
financial statements. Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis
is presented thereon.

Credit risk

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit
risk. The carrying amounts of cash at bank, derivatives
financial instruments, trade and notes receivables,
deposits and other receivables and amount due from
an associated company included in the consolidated
balance sheet represent the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk in relation to its financial assets.

Substantially all of the Group’s cash at bank are
deposited in major financial institutions located in
Hong Kong, the Mainland China and Canada, which
management believes are of high credit quality.
Management does not expect any losses arising from
non-performance by these counterparties.

The Group also has policies in place to ensure that sale
of products are made to customers with an appropriate
credit history and the Group performs periodic credit
evaluations of its customers. Normally the Group does
not require collaterals from trade debtors.
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3.

31 March 2010

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)

As at 31 March 2009 and 2010, included in other
receivables of the Group was a loan due from an
independent third party company of HK$3,868,000,
details of which have been disclosed in note 26. The
amount was originally scheduled to be repayable by
23 September 2008 whereby it was mutually agreed
between the Group and the third party to extend the
relevant terms of the agreement, as detailed in note
26, to 30 November 2009 and the amount has become
repayable on demand thereafter. The directors have
assessed the financial strength of the third party and are
of the opinion that credit risk for non-performance by
this third party is relatively low such that the receivable
could either be recovered through repayment or through
acquisition of the relevant equity interest in the company.

The amount due from an associated company is mainly
arisen from trading transactions with the associated
company, details of which are disclosed in note 40. As
at 31 March 2010, the amount due from the associated
company of HK$4,382,000 was overdue but not
considered to be impaired as these receivables are
secured by the assets of the associated company and
continuous settlement have been received. The directors
are of the opinion that as the Group has significant
influence over the financial and operating decision
of the associated company, the risk of default from
the associated company is relatively low and do not
anticipate any losses arising from non-performance by
the counterparty.

Management makes periodic collective assessment as
well as individual assessment on the recoverability of
trade and other receivables, including amount due from
an associated company, based on historical payment
records, the length of the overdue period, the financial
strength of the trade and other debtors and whether
there are any disputes with the relevant debtors. The
Group’s historical experience in collection of trade and
other receivables falls within the recorded allowances
and directors are of the opinion that adequate provision
for uncollectible receivables has been made in these
financial statements.
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3.

31 March 2010

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(d)

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and cash equivalents and the availability
of funding through an adequate amount of committed
credit facilities.

The Group’s primary cash requirements have been
for additions of and upgrades on property, plant and
equipment,
trade and other payables and payment for operating

settlement of borrowings, payment for

expenses. The Group mainly finances its working
capital requirements through a combination of internal
resources and bank borrowings, as necessary.

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure it maintains
sufficient cash and cash equivalents and adequate
amount of committed credit facilities to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and long term.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities
and net-settled derivative financial liabilities into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at
the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date.
The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows based on the earliest date on
which the Group can be required to pay.
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31 March 2010

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(d)

At 31 March 2010

£H Group

—E-ZEF=F=+—H

ﬁEﬁETA Borrowings
=& ARIE Trade payables

Egiﬁﬁﬂﬁ REARENIR

Accruals and other payables

Accruals and other payables
Derivative financial instruments

“ETNE=RA=+—H At 31 March 2009
ﬁEﬁ%TA Borrowings

=& ARIE Trade payables
E%HEFH R E At FEA IR
PTESHIA
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A=+—RH PR RElZHMB
BEHARGANRTZ@ARNE
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(e)

Liquidity risk (continued)

—FEWME —EZEF

—FR Between Between
Within 1 year 1 and 2 years 2 and 5 years
FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
196,638 19,757 17,955
258,709 — —
20,189 — —
165,353 35,309 =
138,826 — —
18,102 - -
34 — —

As at 31 March 2010 and 2009, all the Company’s
financial liabilities were due for settlement contractually
within 12 months.

Cash flow and fair value interest-rate risk

The Group’s income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates. The Group has no significant interest-bearing
assets except for the cash at bank, details of which are
disclosed in note 27. The Group’s exposure to changes
in interest rates is mainly attributable to its bank
borrowings, details of which are disclosed in note 28.
Borrowings carried at floating rates expose the Group
to cash flow interest rate risk whereas those carried at
fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate
risk. The Group has not used any interest rate swaps to
hedge its exposure to interest rate risk.
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31 March 2010

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

3.2

Financial risk factors (continued)

(e)

Cash flow and fair value interest-rate risk
(continued)

As at 31 March 2010, if the interest rates on borrowings
had been 50 basis points higher/lower, with all other
variables held constant, post-tax loss for the year
would have been HK$330,000 higher/lower (2009 post-
tax profit would have been HK$291,000 lower/higher),
mainly as a result of higher/lower interest expense on
floating rate borrowings.

Fair value estimation

Effective from 1 April 2009, the Group adopted the amendment
to HKFRS 7 for financial instruments that are measured in the

balance sheet at fair value, this requires disclosure of fair value

measurements by level of the following fair value measurement
hierarchy:

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (level 1).

Inputs other than quoted prices included within level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is derived
from prices) (level 2).

Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(level 3).

As at 31 March 2010 and 2009, all the resulting fair value
estimates on the available-for-sale financial assets are included

in level 1, whereas those of the derivative financial instruments

are included in level 2.



LR R E

SFFE=A=T-H

3.

Notes to the Financial Statements

BERERE 2

3.2

DNPEME ()

FEERTSEENME TANRFER
BEEBNTSRETIR - ZHREA
RANEMRELZZSH X558 &
2 ERAL  EERBEREERRE
S MZERERARBRATFRSEE
ETHNERNERTISERZE  Zh5
WRRER - AEBEHAENMBEEN
MERERERERE HETARE
RER—  REF—HNERTAREN
HHESHEEN DRSS  REBH

BRIMRFARS -

REBEEERTSEE /KT A0
HOMTET B ) B A FEF A & E i
BE o MERMEENBIERTEH
& RELKBEEMNEEME - 05
BB TANAFEMTENMEE
RN& A B EREE - AIZMiE T AT
ABR= -

I—IAR ZIRE AW AL FERIE A B
S8 - AR BTAIAE=FE -

RZZZNF=A=+—0 ' IMNEERH
BRI A EFEEREEARGRAE
ESNEERE - AIZF BT ASIARE
=

3.

31 March 2010

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2

Fair value estimation (continued)

The fair value of financial instruments trade in active markets
is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date.
A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and
regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices
represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions
on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used for
financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price.
These instruments are included in level 1. Instruments included
in level 1 comprise primarily equity investments classified as
available-for-sale which are publicly traded in the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in
an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives)
is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation
techniques maximise the use-of observable market data where
it is available and rely as little as possible on entity-specific
estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

The fair value estimates on forward foreign currency contracts
as at 31 March 2009 was determined primarily based on
forward exchange rates at the balance sheet date and are
included in level 2.
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3.

31 March 2010

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the dividend payments to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or to obtain new bank
borrowings.

The Group also monitors capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital.
Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (include current and
non-current borrowings as shown in the consolidated balance
sheet) less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated
as “equity”, as shown in the consolidated balance sheet, plus
net debt.
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3. UHEBREEw 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 ¥(BsRREE(E) 3.3  Capital risk management (continued)
RZE—ZSFR_ZTTNF=A=+— The table below analyses the Group’s capital structure as at 31
A BELEAT : March 2010 and 2009:
—E-F —ZTH
2010 2009
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
RIEE (f1a28) Total borrowings (Note 28) 230,951 195,841
B RENREEBY(HF27) Less: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 27) (166,627) (124,556)
B3 Net debt 64,324 71,285
i Total equity 361,000 384,571
HBER Total capital 425,324 455,856
EARBELE Gearing ratio 15% 16%
NEE  EFEZEABRBEEERIES K There is no material change in the Group’s gearing ratio during the year.
U o
NR-ZE—ZE=A=+—H8 ' £87 As at 31 March 2010, the total banking facilities made available to
A & & 48 %8 49 /4 349,302,000 JT the Group amounting to approximately HK$349,302,000 (2009:
—ZEZF N4 : 331,645,000/ 7C) * M HK$331,645,000) of which approximately HK$291,117,000 (2009:
HF291,117,0008 T(Z T T N F - HK$231,614,000) was utilised by the Group.

231,614,000 7)) EWERER -
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31 March 2010

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENT

Estimates and judgements used in preparing financial statements
are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year are discussed below.

(a) Useful lives, residual values and depreciation of property,
plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives,
residual values and related depreciation charges for its property,
plant and equipment, other than construction-in-progress, with
reference to the estimated periods that the Group intends to
derive future economic benefits from use of these assets. This
estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual
useful lives of property, plant and equipment of similar nature
and functions. Management will revise the depreciation charge
where useful lives or residual values are different to that of
previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or
sold.

Actual economic lives may differ from estimated useful lives and
actual residual values may differ from estimated residual values.
Periodic review could result in a change in depreciable lives and
residual values and therefore depreciation expense in future
periods.

(b) Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group tests at least annually whether goodwill has suffered
any impairment (Note 17). Other non-financial assets including
property, plant and equipment and leasehold land and land use
rights are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. The recoverable amounts have been determined
based on value-in-use calculations or fair value less costs to
sell. These calculations require the use of judgements and
estimates.
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31 March 2010

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENT (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

Management judgement is required in the area of asset
impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event has
occurred that may indicate that the related asset values may
not be recoverable; (ii) whether the carrying value of an asset
can be supported by the recoverable amount, being the higher
of fair value less costs to sell and net present value of future
cash flows which are estimated based upon the continued
use of the asset in the business; and (iii) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow projections
including whether these cash flow projections are discounted
using an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected
by management in assessing impairment, including the
discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present value used in
the impairment test and as a result affect the Group’s financial
position and results of operations. If there is a significant
adverse change in the projected performance and resulting
future cash flow projections, it may be necessary to take an
impairment charge to the income statement.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of
completion and selling expenses. These estimates are based
on the current market condition and the historical experience
of manufacturing and selling products of similar nature. It could
change significantly as a result of changes in customer taste
and competitor actions in response to severe industry cycle.
Management reassesses these estimates at each balance sheet
date.

Impairment of receivables

The Group’s management determines the provision for
impairment of trade and notes receivables, other receivables
and amount due from an associated company based on
an assessment of the recoverability of the receivables. The
assessment is based on the credit history of its customers and
other debtors and the current market condition, and requires
the use of judgements and estimates. Management reassesses
the provision at each balance sheet date.
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4.

31 March 2010

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENT (continued)

(e)

5.

Sales of goods

Current and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions.
Judgement is required in determining the provision for income
taxes in each of these jurisdictions. There are transactions and
calculations during the ordinary course of business for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income
tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when management
considers it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the temporary differences or tax losses
can be utilised. When the expectation is different from the
original estimates, such differences will impact the recognition
of deferred income tax assets and taxation charges in the
period in which such estimates is changed.

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

£H
Group
—E-F —ZTA
2010 2009
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
1,628,377 1,542,134
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31 March 2010

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
Segment information

The Group is principally engaged in the design, development,
manufacturing and distribution of electronic components, contract
electronic manufacturing services and consumer electronics, and the
distribution of personal computer products.

The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the executive
directors (collectively referred to as the “CODM”) that make strategic
decisions. The CODM reviews the internal reporting of the Company
and its subsidiaries in order to assess performance and allocate
resources. Management has determined the operating segments based
on these reports.

The CODM considers the business from the perspective of the nature
of operations and the type of products, including the “Electronic
Components Distribution”, “Contract Electronic Manufacturing
Services”, “Consumer Electronics and Electronic Components

Manufacturing” and “Personal Computer Distribution”.

Each of the Group’s operating segments represents a strategic business
unit that is managed by different business unit leaders. Inter-segment
transactions are entered into under the normal commercial terms and
conditions that would normally be available to unrelated third parties.
CODM assesses the performance of the operating segments based on
a measure of profit before income tax. Other information provided to
the CODM is measured in a manner consistent with that in the financial
statements.

Assets of reportable segments exclude deferred tax assets, available-
for-sale financial assets and corporate assets (mainly including certain
corporate properties and equipment and corporate cash and bank
balances), all of which are managed on a central basis. Liabilities of
reportable segments exclude current and deferred income tax liabilities,
corporate borrowings and other corporate liabilities. These are part of
the reconciliation to total balance sheet assets and liabilities.
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PEBER(E)

e Revenue

HEER Sales of goods

ERIBER Results of reportable segments

SR ELERAEE  Areconciliation of results of reportable
BEMBSHHENT segments to loss for the year is as follows:

ERIBER Results of reportable segments

RAOBRX Unallocated expenses

F Operating results

BERA — FE Finance costs — net

BB Loss before income tax

MEHR% Income tax expense

rEEFR Loss for the year

Hit &R Other segment information:

BAMLH Capital expenditure

SENE  BIRR
B8

% - BERRBFE
5t

- BERREAE
FERE

FRRE

M ERERAE

Loss on disposal on property, plant and
equipment
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of leasehold land and
land use rights
Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Impairment of inventories
Write down of inventories
Impairment of trade receivables

mEERARRQA
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31 March 2010

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Segment information (continued)

BE-_E-ZE-A=1-HIEE
Year ended 31 March 2010

ETHEEMR
ETEEEN ETNBRHLE

EERE Consumer BAEMK

BT R Contract Electronics ERSH

Electronic Electronic and Electronic Personal
Components  Manufacturing Components Computer g
Distribution Services Manufacturing Distribution Total
FEx FEx FEx FET FEx
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
1,083,193 150,352 132,812 262,020 1,628,377
27,226 (2,871) (42,044) 5,224 (12,465)
(12,465)
(9,867)
(22,332)
(3,619)
(25,951)
(5,410)
(31,361)
1,706 9,066 6,753 317 17,842
- = (50) - (50)
3,163 2,127 10,518 422 16,230
- - 537 - 537
- - 14,200 - 14,200
- 7,354 16,251 - 23,605
1,807 - - 421 2,228
161 - - 435 596
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—E—ZFF=-H=1—H 31 March 2010
5. EXBERIHFER @ 5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)
PEBER(E) Segment information (continued)

BE-_E-ZE-A=-1-HIEE
Year ended 31 March 2010

ETHEERR
ETEEAN ETTRGLE
EERE Consumer HAEM
BT R Contract Electronics ERSH
Electronic Electronic and Electronic Personal
Components  Manufacturing Components Computer g
Distribution Services Manufacturing Distribution Total
FET FET FE7T FE7T FET
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
AHEE Segment assets
EnrBEE Segment assets 401,359 89,985 153,780 58,167 703,291
AE Goodwil - - - 28,121 28,121
401,359 89,985 153,780 86,288 731,412
HHESREE Available-for-sale financial assets 305
EEMEREE Deferred income tax assets 927
At RABEE Other unallocated assets 149,258
AMEEEERN Total assets per consolidated
BENE balance sheet 881,902
APEE Segment liabilities 381,915 30,767 42,760 27,847 483,289
EHAGHAE Current income tax liabilities 1,596
BRFEHEE Deferred income tax liabilities 1,877
AR EEE Other unallocated liabilities 34,140
AHEBEERBRD Total liabilities per consolidated
SEME balance sheet 520,902
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5. EXFERIBER 5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)
PEER(E) Segment information (continued)
BAE-ZTNF=A=1-ALEE
Year ended 31 March 2009
ETHEBERR
BETEXEN  Efnaf4E
HERS Consumer EAEHK
B LRHLH Contract Electronics EmiEH
Electronic Electronic and Electronic Personal
Components Manufacturing Components Computer BE
Distribution Services Manufacturing Distribution Total
FAT FAT FET FHET FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BER Revenue
HESM Sales of goods 795,098 223,490 215,197 308,349 1,542,134
EHA P EE Results of reportable segments 24,388 4,387 (12,372) 2,529 18,932
SHPW2LERAEE  Areconciliation of results of reportable
BFIRRDEENT : segments to profit for the year is as follows:
ERIBEE Results of reportable segments 18,932
FARMA Unallocated income 11,817
RAERX Unallocated expense (13,459)
"EER Operating profit 17,290
RARE —FE Finance costs — net (7,826)
BEADRR Profit before income tax 9,464
MERE Income tax expense (2,739)
KEERE Profit for the year 6,729
HitpHER Other segment information:
UNETE Capital expenditure 2,397 3,407 18,431 517 24,752
BEME  HERRERE  Gainon disposal of property, plant and
RHEETRTHERE  equipment and leasehold land and land use
rights - - 11,805 - 11,805
mE - BERZETE Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 4,612 2,069 10,194 406 17,281
MELHRTHERERSE  Amortisation of leasehold land and
land use rights — — 595 — 595
FERE Write-down of inventories 3,233 = 3,285 - 6,518
X RERE Impairment of trade receivables 1,433 = 280 696 2,409
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5. EXBERIHFER @ 5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)
PEBER(E) Segment information (continued)

HE-STNFZAZ+-ALFE
Year ended 31 March 2009

BT HEBERR
ETEXAN ETIREE
HERS Consumer EAEM
BT AN Contract Electronics EmTH
Electronic Electronic and Electronic Personal
Components Manufacturing Components Computer aa
Distribution Services Manufacturing Distribution Total
FET FET FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
AHEE Segment assets
At AHEE Segment assets 330,421 83,144 116,459 47,800 577,824
B Goodwil = = = 22,704 22,704
330,421 83,144 116,459 70,504 600,528
MHLESREE Avallable-for-sale financial assets 168
EEMEHEAE Deferred income tax assets 172
AP REE Other unallocated assets 144,450
EHEERRERN Total assets per consolidated
BE4E balance sheet 745,318
AHEE Segment liabilities
AHEE Segment liabilities 200,995 12,836 44,759 24,119 282,709
BHNGHERE Current income tax liabilities 2616
BEREHAE Deferred income tax liabilities 3,347
HERHREE Other unallocated liabilities 72,075
EHEEAERN Total liabilities per consolidated
SEEE balance sheet 360,747
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31 March 2010

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
Segment information (continued)

The entity is domiciled in Hong Kong. The revenue from external

ARt - customers attributed to Hong Kong and other locations are analysed as
follows:
SRR W s
Revenue from
external customers
—2-F —ZTTh
2010 2009
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
B Hong Kong 961,068 652,266
B R BE Mainland China 205,260 241,619
JEZEMN North America 272,306 418,827
BOM Europe 162,542 193,203
E b oM BIZR Other Asian countries 27,201 36,219
1,628,377 1,642,134

RZZB—ZTF=A=+—H NREBZER
FEELE BEE SRIAREEMSH
BEMNIEERRBREOMEROESRENE
BERHEZ)510,936,0008 T(Z T T N F -
10,785,000 7T) * MEAMME(EERHE R
g R)H 3ERB) & E 4 4 196,935,000 7 7T
(ZZZAF : 210,022,000 7T) °

aNEEERAERAA 84
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At 31 March 2010, the total of non-current assets other than goodwill,
financial instruments and deferred tax assets (there are no employment
benefit assets and rights arising under insurance contracts) located in
Hong Kong is approximately HK$10,936,000 (2009: HK$10,785,000),
and the total of these non-current assets located in other locations
(mainly in the Mainland China and Canada) is approximately
HK$196,935,000 (2009: HK$210,022,000).
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H A 6.
e WA Rental income
HAh Others

BB WRAZEESH A47,0008 (=%
T : 58,000/87T) °

31 March 2010

OTHER INCOME

—z-% “FTN
2010 2009
FHAT FHAT
HK$°000 HK$'000
355 499

323 330

678 829

The direct outgoing in respect of the rental income is HK$47,000 (2009:
HK$58,000).

Hib = HEE 7. OTHER GAINS — NET
—z-% —zTh
2010 2009
FET FEr
HK$°000 HK$’'000
BEYE  WERREBERBE LMK  (Loss)/gain on disposal of property, plant and
- fs A (B518 ), s equipment and leasehold land and land
use rights (50) 11,805
PTESRMTAAFE(ERE) B& Fair value (loss)/gain on derivative financial
instruments (201) 6,480
S gH A1 I B RE A 2 Write-off of interest in a jointly controlled
entity (1) =
HER RS Net exchange gains 3,827 1,151
3,575 19,436
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8. EXPENSES BY NATURE

Changes in inventories of trading
merchandise, finished goods and
work-in-progress

Trading merchandise, raw materials and
consumables used

Auditor’s remuneration

Amortisation of leasehold land and land use
rights

Depreciation
— owned property, plant and equipment
— property, plant and equipment held

under finance leases

Employment benefit expenses (including
directors’ emoluments) (Note 9)

Provision for impairment of inventories
(Note 24)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
(Note 18)

Impairment of trade receivables (included in
general and administrative expenses)

Write-down of inventories

Operating lease rental in respect of land and
buildings

Travelling and office expenses

Transportation expenses

Advertising costs

Repair and maintenance expenses

Other expenses

Representing:
Cost of sales
Selling and distribution expenses
General and administrative expenses

31 March 2010

=== —FTTh
2010 2009
FET T8
HK$’000 HK$'000
(33,347) 20,688
1,449,238 1,287,760
2,447 2,233

537 595
16,230 17,006

- 275
111,916 137,132
23,605 =
14,200 =
596 2,409
2,228 6,518
7,355 6,955
21,463 18,476
5,103 6,980

380 1,019
3,599 3,219
29,412 33,844
1,654,962 1,545,109
1,512,405 1,398,671
21,421 26,771
121,136 119,667
1,654,962 1,545,109
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—E—ZFF=-H=1—H 31 March 2010
9. BIREAMAX 9. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES
BREENEZETRAFEIMOT : Employment benefit expenses, including directors’ emoluments,
consists of:
—E-F —ZTTh
2010 2009
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000
N - TERER Wages, salaries and allowances 100,973 121,142
TE4L Bonuses 3,125 3,782
BRKA — REREFTE Pension costs — defined contribution plans 4,272 5,822
=rlliba Welfare and benefits 3,546 6,386
111,916 137,132
10. ®MERAE — FE 10. FINANCE COSTS — NET
—E-F —ZTZTN
2010 2009
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$’'000
RITHEHF 2 A Interest income from bank deposits 82 224
REFRE2 B ZRITERFE Interest expense on bank loans wholly
repayable within five years (4,042) (6,923)
RIERE 2 M EEH Interest element of finance leases (16) (154)
Efh Others 357 (9783)
. lmdwhr B
BEKAN — F58 Finance costs — net (3,619) (7,826)
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—E—ZFF=-H=1—H 31 March 2010

11. FEHREX 11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

RATEEREARENIE - 28BS 3B The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda. Hong Kong profits tax
BEBSBIMAIHMBARESBELESNIR  has been provided for at the rate of 16.5% (2009: 16.5%) on the estimated
BEB (At EEN %A% 16.5% (ZEZ 5, assessable profits arising in or derived from Hong Kong. Companies

F :16.5%) 2 T RATEOER - MBI R 23E  established and operated in the Mainland China are subject to PRC corporate
ZATMBBRRCEREH  HEE25% (= income tax at the rate of 25% (2009: 25%). Companies established and

TEALE : 25%) c MARMMEARK T REE 27 operated in Canada are subject to Canadian income tax at the rate of 35%
BITIRBEMERFAER  HER35%(ZFT  (2009: 35%).

NEF : 35%) °
—E2-=F —ZTN,
2010 2009
FET FEIT
HK$’000 HK$’000
B HTIE Current taxation
— BABEMNEH — Hong Kong profits tax 3,577 1,762
— B FEFTSE — PRC corporate income tax 2,220 1,259
— INERFAER — Canada income tax 1,838 633
BEETIRE R = £ o E 4 RE 0 Deferred taxation relating to the origination
(Hia£32) and reversal of temporary differences
(Note 32) (2,225) (919)
5,410 2,735
RNEEFBRB A (ER) FEZFEH - B2iE The taxation on the Group’s (loss)/profit before income tax differs from
RAEBZHEMGEZ ERTE L EZHAT ¢ the theoretical amount that would arise using the Hong Kong profits tax
rate as follows:
-z-7 TN
2010 2009
FET FEIT
HK$°000 HK$’000
BrEiAT (B, F (Loss)/profit before income tax (25,951) 9,464
%)EEIEHNG 5% R EETE Calculation at taxation rate of 16.5%

S 71¢ 16.5%) (2009: 16.5%) (4,282) 1,562
PRFERZF Effect of difference tax rate (1,715) (1,241)
HSZ)\??%/E%?RZ%RIE??; Tax effect of income not subject to tax (2,598) (8,605)
SRRz RIBE Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax 4,046 2,287
RERZHIBBR 2 BIEHZE Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 9,162 4,623
IS L% Tax effect of change in tax rate - (210)
A EAR R B IR R E A Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax

losses (64) (765)
MENIE Withholding tax 227 196
Hh Others 634 (112)
FIE Taxation charge 5,410 2,735
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12. EERERTHRAEMS 12.

(a)

EE=ME

RZE-—ZEF=A=+T—HARRZE
=ZMEmT

EEns Name of Director
HTES Executive directors
2R %E Mr LAU Tak Wan

Hr e Ms CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky
FRELE Mr WAN Chor Fai
RERLE Mr MAK Hon Kai, Stanly

BIEHTEE  Independent non-executive directors

ERALE Mr Barry John BUTTIFANT
BREEE Mr LIU Ngai Wing
BRELE Mr CHOI Yuk Fan

31 March 2010

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS

(a)

Directors’ emoluments

The remuneration of each of the directors of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2010 is set out below:

BHREMH

Contribution

FERER MisTEAL to retirement
B Salaries and Discretionary benefit ot
Fees allowances bonuses scheme Total
Tz TET FE7 &7 AT
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
- 3,247 - 162 3,409
- 1,111 - 56 1,167
- 1,073 - 45 1,118
- 1,294 550 63 1,907
100 - - - 100
75 - - - 75
50 - - - 50
225 6,725 550 326 7,826
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—E—ZFF=-H=1—H 31 March 2010

12. EERSRITHEAEMES » 12. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) BEEMEL(E) (a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)
R_EENF=A=+—BARAEE The remuneration of each of the directors of the Company for
ZZEemT the year ended 31 March 2009 is set out below:

BRSHR
Contribution
He Rz MBTEA to retirement
e Salaries and Discretionary benefit Fk
iz Name of Director Fees allowances bonuses scheme Total
FET FET FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BES Executive directors
25ERE Mr LAU Tak Wan - 3,209 370 162 3,741
BRiEL L Ms CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky - 1,098 106 59 1,259
FRELE Mr WAN Chor Fai - 1,238 112 52 1,402
EEERE Mr MAK Hon Kai, Stanly - 1,258 635 63 1,956
BIENTES Independent non-executive directors
ERALE Mr Barry John BUTTIFANT 100 - - - 100
BRESE Mr LIU Ngai Wing 75 - - - 75
2EELE Mr CHOI Yuk Fan 50 - - - 50
225 6,803 1,223 332 8,583
BESERAFENEREZEEFAME No director waived any emoluments during the year (2009: Nil).
(ZZZNF : T) - RAFEBESZA No emolument was paid to any directors as inducement to join
FRESEMRMBEM SRR EESTHN or as compensation for loss of office during the year (2009: Nil).
ZRE(ZZETZNF:T)  EEZWE No director has been granted or exercised any share option
BT ATERERMBRE(ZZEZNF during the year (2009: Nil).
) o
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12.

31 March 2010

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group for the year include four (2009: four) directors whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above. The

emoluments paid and payable to the remaining one (2009: one)
individual are as follows:

—ZE2-=F TN
2010 2009
FET FrEr
HK$°000 HK$’000
Basic salaries and allowances 748 841
Discretionary bonus 70 70
Pension scheme contribution 12 12
830 923
The emoluments fell within the following band:
A

Number of individual
—=-F —ZTTN,
2010 2009
Nil— HK$1,000,000 1 1

During the year, no emolument was paid to the five highest
paid individuals (including directors and other employees) as
inducement to join or as compensation for loss of office (2009:
Nil).
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EREBEHAIT  AEERZEESFIKES
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13.

31 March 2010

PENSION SCHEMES

Hong Kong

The Group has two defined contribution pension schemes, the
retirement scheme organised under the Hong Kong Occupational
Retirement Schemes Ordinance (“ORSO Scheme”) and the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”), for its employees in Hong
Kong. The assets of the ORSO Scheme and the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group under independently administered
funds.

Under the ORSO Scheme, the Group and each of its employees
make monthly contribution to the scheme of approximately 5% and
5%, respectively, of the employees’ salary. The unvested benefits of
employees who have terminated employment are utilised by the Group
to reduce its future contributions. The unvested benefits so utilised
under the scheme during the year ended 31 March 2010 amounted
to approximately HK$49,000 (2009: Nil), and the amount of unvested
benefits as at 31 March 2010 that are available to reduce the Group’s
future contributions was approximately HK$8,000 (2009: HK$57,000).

Under the MPF Scheme, each of the Group and its employees
makes monthly contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employee’s
relevant income, as defined in the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance. Both the Group’s and the employee’s contributions are
subjected to a cap of HK$1,000 per month and thereafter contributions
are voluntary. The contributions are fully and immediately vested in the
employees.

Mainland China

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the Mainland China, the
Group contributes to state-sponsored retirement plans for its relevant
employees in the Mainland China. The Group’s relevant employees
make monthly contributions to the plans at approximately 5% of the
relevant income (comprising salaries, allowances and bonus), while the
Group makes monthly contributions at approximately 8 to 10% of such
relevant income and has no further obligations for the actual payment of
post-retirement benefits beyond its contributions. The state-sponsored
retirement plans are responsible for the entire post-retirement benefits
payable to retired employees.
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31 March 2010

13. ’A%ﬁ?l’%(@) 13. PENSION SCHEMES (continued)
m=Ex Canada
REBEZEANEAEEREMEZHS K The Group is required to make monthly contribution to the National
T%:F%%@%E’ME%&@%IWI\ ' AR KRR Canada Pension Plan (“CPP”) in respect of its employees in Canada
SEFEI(CPP)E AR - EXEEIRIEE A0 based on the relevant employees’ salaries, with the exceptions of
B—?—ﬁ$§§%@%24 5% (ZZZNF : 4.95%) certain excluded employment and benefits, at a rate of 4.95% (2009:
R BEEEZaBRARRKSBRARBTZR 4.95%) of the employees’ salaries subject to a maximum annual
331,000/ L (&1 46,525 7 ) (ZEZ A, pensionable earnings of HK$331,000 (equivalent to CAD46,525) (2009:
£ : 276,000 7T (FHF 7 44,900 M07T) ) ° HK$276,000 (equivalent to CAD44,900)).
14, REERTEAEGL(EER), - 14. (LOSS)/PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
Nt
a2 A HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
ARAREDZIFE ABRMEBREARRRPEHRE The loss attributable to equity holders of the Company is dealt with in
ABREELA17,0008 T(ZZEZNF : BF| the financial statements of the Company to the extent of HK$17,000
/410,866,00087T) ° (2009: profit of HK$10,866,000).
15. RE 15. DIVIDENDS
== —ZTTh
2010 2009
FET FEr
HK$°000 HK$’000
Bk E R BBRR B &A% 0.3 711l Interim, paid, of HK0.3 cents
(ZZZTNF : 0.3 (Ha2 () (2009: HKO.3 cent) per share (note (i) 911 911
FR AR HRRR B AR T L Final, proposed, of Nil (2009: HKO0.5 cents)
(ZZThF - 0.5 (M2 (i) per share (note (ii)) - 1,518
911 2,429
Htat Notes:
(i) RZZEZNF+—A=Zt+ttHBETzE% (i) At a meeting held on 27 November 2009, the Company’s directors
E - EEHIRTHREST@EAR 0.3 - declared an interim dividend of HK0.3 cents per share, totalling
kAR HAA% B 4258 911,000 7T Eé:;ﬁfg HK$911,000, which was paid on 8 January 2010.
E—ANBH -
REZZZENEFE+—A ' ARESHIRT K In November 2008, the Company’s directors declared an interim dividend
SEEEAR0.3B1l - #BFEH911,00087T - of HKO0.3 cent per share, totalling HK$911,000, which was paid on 9
REZZEZNF—ANBE - January 2009.
(ii) EETERREBRE T —TF=RA=1— (i) No final dividend is declared by the Company’s directors for the year

HEEZRHPRE -

RZZZAFELA-+—HBTZEH L
ERERIRERMBRE TEAER0.581U - 1t
BERKREENRBE_ZT-—FTF=HA=+—
HIEFEIERE BIHRDIK ©

ended 31 March 2010.

At a meeting held on 21 July 2009, the Company’s directors proposed
a final dividend of HKO.5 cents per share. This proposed dividend had
been reflected as an appropriation of retained profits for the year ended
31 March 2010.
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16. ER(EE) EF

(a) L=

16. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic

31 March 2010

BRER(ER)  BANEREBEFEAR
AEREE AN (EE), DR FERIAR
A BT EARIEFIEHE -

Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
(loss)/profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the

year.

—%-% TN
2010 2009

RAaEmfsE AL (Loss)/profit attributable to equity holders of
(&18), &R (FET) the Company (HK$’000) (31,630) 7115

LR INETHETHE Weighted average number of ordinary shares
(F) in issue ("000) 303,643 303,895

FRER(EBR),BF Basic (loss)/earnings per share
O3 (HK cents per share) (10.42) 2.34
(b) e (b) Diluted

AEEREBEE(ER) RIK - BY
BEEBTTERZ NI ELAE
ARRRFT A EARITERREEEEH
B _T—TFR_TTNF=A
=+—BFEEHHE  KTERBEEREA
BREEER  AtSR#EE(EHE)
B RGREAR(ER) RBFHER o

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to
assume conversion of all the Company’s outstanding warrants.
Dilutive (loss)/earnings per share for the year ended 31 March
2010 and 2009 equal basic (loss)/earnings per share as the
exercise of the outstanding warrants would be anti-dilutive.

17. BHE 17. GOODWILL
—E-= —ZTTN,
2010 2009
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
AR Cost

ER Beginning of the year 22,860 28,355
JERERE Exchange differences 5,417 (5,495)
EPN End of the year 28,277 22,860

ZEHRE Accumulated impairment losses
RUA—BAK=A=+—H As at 1 April and 31 March (156) (156)
BREDFE Net book amount 28,121 22,704
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R

BENENXRDERERBEARRLEH T
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o REERSREBBAMRAN T ERERE
AR FIE - X2 ERROERE ST HZ
EREREBWAENERTE

17.

Gross margin
Growth rate
Discount rate

31 March 2010

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment tests for goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units identified
according to operating segment. As at 31 March 2009 and 2010, all
the goodwill is allocated to the “Distribution of Personal Computers”
segment in Canada.

For the purposes of impairment reviews, the recoverable amount of
goodwill is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management for the purposes of impairment reviews
covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five years periods
are extrapolated according to a zero-growth assumption.

The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations are as follows:

& REE
Canada
operations
—E-F
2010

9%

0% to 12%

13%

——

The budgeted gross margins were determined by management based

on past performance and its expectation for market development.

The growth rates used are largely consistent and do not exceed the

industry growth forecast. The annual discount rate is before tax and

reflect market assessments of the time value and the specific risks

relating to the relevant segment. Management has considered the

above assumptions and valuation and has also taken into account

the business expansion plan going forward. Management believes

that any reasonably foreseeable change in any of the above key

assumptions would not cause the carrying amount of goodwill to

exceed the recoverable amount. Judgment is required to determine key

assumptions adopted in the cash flow projections and the changes to
key assumptions can significantly affect these cash flow projections.
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18. W% - EBERRE

31 March 2010

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

& Group
AT
RERRE
Leasehold
BE  improvements,
REREE furniture, EERIR HBIR
E¥ Plant and fixtures and RE Mouldsand  Construction- @t
Buildings machinery equipment  Motor vehicles tooling in-progress Total
A7 &7 AT AT FAT A7 AT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZEENEMA-A At 1 April 2009
BA Cost 122,622 142,479 44,955 6,095 21,036 - 337,187
STERAE Accumulated depreciation
and impairment (14,945) (84,941) (24,320) (4,582) (9,615) - (138,403)
BEZE Net book amount 107,677 57,538 20,635 1,513 11,421 - 198,784
“5-ZF=B=1-A Year ended 31 March 2010
LEE
BIREFE Opening net book amount 107,677 57,538 20,635 1,513 11,421 - 198,784
EAZE Exchange differences 170 (151) 2A7 121 - - 357
AE Additions - 746 3,030 613 1,856 11,597 17,842
e Disposals - (45) (123) - - - (168)
hE Depreciation (2,554) (8,592) (2,507) (296) (2,281) - (16,230)
HEHZ) Impairment (Note) - (7,642) (1,839) - (4,719) - (14,200)
HREDFE Closing net book amount 105,293 41,854 19,413 1,951 6,277 11,597 186,385
RZZE-8£=A=1+-H  At31 March 2010
BA Cost 122,792 142,848 47,997 6,829 22,802 11,507 354,955
ZTERAE Accumulated depreciation
and impairment (17,499) (100,994) (28,584) (4,878) (16,615) - (168,570)
BEE Net book amount 105,293 41,854 19,413 1,951 6,277 11,597 186,385

AMBIELBRAERRA 9%
Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited



B 7% iy 2% MY 5 F Notes to the Financial Statements

—E—ZFF=H=1—H 31 March 2010
18. Y% - #BERRE =) 18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)
£E(E) Group (continued)
5 G-
HERRE
Leasehold
BE  improvements,
REREE furniture, BEARIA ERIR
B¥ Plant and fixtures and RE Mouldsand  Construction- @it
Buildings machinery equipment  Motor vehicles tooling in-progress Total
AT A7 A7 AT AT AT A7
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

RZZENFMA-A At 1 April 2008

A Cost 119,948 131,321 42,070 6,032 17,583 = 316,054
ZHTERAE Accumulated depreciation

and impairment (13,030) (75,697) (22,015) (4,225) (7.443) - (122,410)
REAE Net book amount 106,918 55,624 20,055 1,807 10,140 = 104,544

“EENE=R=1-A Year ended 31 March 2009

LLEE
BREE Opening net book amount 106,918 55,624 20,05 1807 10,140 = 104,544
ERER Exchange differences (101) 39 (152) 1 = = (213)
hE Additions 6,168 11,268 3,663 200 3,453 - 24752
HeE Disposals (2,623) 1) (373) (1) - - (3,018)
il Depreciation (2,685) (9372) (2,558) (494) (2,172) - (17281)
BREDFE Closing net book amount 107,677 57538 20,635 1518 11,421 - 108,784
RZBEAE=A=1-8  At31 March 2009

A Cost 122,622 142,479 44,955 6,095 21,036 = 337187
ZHTERAE Accumulated depreciation

and impairment (14,945) (84.941) (24,320) (4,582) (9615) = (138,403)
KEAE Net book amount 107,677 57538 20,635 1518 11,421 - 108,784
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31 March 2010

18. Y% - MBERRE 18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)
BFREFEINAT Net book value of the buildings is analysed as follows:
55
Group
—E-= —ZTTH
2010 2009
FET FEIT
HK$’000 HK$’000
MRABES : In Hong Kong held on:
10-50 G 2 HH 4 Leases of between 10 to 50 years 3,475 3,585
LN EBLAIME R Outside Hong Kong held on:
10-50 G 2 HH 4 Leases of between 10 to 50 years 100,922 103,137
50F A EZ L Leases of over 50 years 896 955
105,293 107,677

FEMSXEP7511,0008 T(ZZZ H4F :
8,141,000 % 7T ) 7£ $8 & AX 7~ 72 Ak % 8,719,000
BIL(ZFZ N4 1 9,140,0008 7T ) E — B K
THRXEE RZBE—TE=A=+—H
AEBEVESBRERAAFABENRERE
ks - RZTTNFE=F=+—0 A£E
FRMERNEE ZRE S ERREREDFEE
#951,559,000 /87T °

Hiat -

FEAFE - B EE AR EIMIBEAN B2 EERYL
HERBAEEFERS  SHEFHHEEENSE
B T —REET I - But » —54914,200,000 2
HMEBARAFEZAGHIERTAR - EHHEE
RREEFHEEMREF LRMHEETER - EF
NEBRBEEEREBATOMSEESRELAAR
B -
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Depreciation expense of HK$7,511,000 (2009: HK$8,141,000) has been
charged in the cost of sales and HK$8,719,000 (2009: HK$9,140,000)
has been included in general and administrative expenses. At 31 March
2010, the Group did not have any plant and machinery under finance
leases. As at 31 March 2009, the Group had plant and machinery of
approximately HK$1,559,000 held under finance leases.

Note:

During the year, the directors conducted a review of the Group’s property, plant
and equipment, having regard to its plan to scale down certain low profit margin
product lines and the consolidation of certain of the Group’s manufacturing
operations. These assets are used in the “Consumer Electronics and Electronic
Components Manufacturing” segment. Consequently, impairment losses of
HK$14,200,000 have been identified and recognised in the consolidated income
statement. The recoverable amounts of the relevant assets have been determined
on the basis of their fair value less costs to sell. The directors determined the
recoverable amounts of these assets with reference to the market values of
similar assets on a scrap sales basis.
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19. HETHRIMEHRE

31 March 2010

19. LEASEHOLD LAND AND LAND USE RIGHTS

SENHEET MR T MERERENEERE The Group’s interests in leasehold land and land use rights represent

MR- BREDFES AT

prepaid operating lease payments and their net book amounts are
analysed as follows:

&5
Group
—E-F —ZTTN
2010 2009
FET FrET
HK$°000 HK$’000
AR AR FHE Opening net book amount 21,312 25,208
EHZER Exchange differences 1 20
b Amortisation (5637) (595)
HE Disposals - (8,321)
AR AR SHE Closing net book amount 20,776 21,312
BCAR Cost 31,474 31,473
BT Accumulated amortisation (10,698) (10,161)
AR FHE Net book amount 20,776 21,312
@D Geographical analysis:
R ERS : In Hong Kong held on:
10-50F 2 %) Leases of between 10 to 50 years 4,436 4,571
LR ER LMD R Outside Hong Kong, held on:
10-50F 2 %) Leases of between 10 to 50 years 16,149 16,546
50 A 2% Leases of over 50 years 191 195
20,776 21,312
BRSO R BHE D REE— B ETHE Amortisation of prepaid operating lease payments has been included in
A e general and administrative expenses.
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—EFFE=F=1—H 31 March 2010
20. HHWBARNWRE 20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
AT
Company
—2-% —FTh
2010 2009
FET FrET
HK$°000 HK$’000
LMD « ERKANE Unlisted shares, at cost 44,715 44,723
AAFIZEERBATIEROT - Particulars of significant subsidiaries are as follows:
AL/ R FERERD Y
Place of TEREHY BRTRARRE Percentage
Ad incorporation/ Principal place Issued and fully ofequity EEEEER ITER
Company establishment of operation paid up share capital interest held  Type of legal entity Principal activities
ERERER —
Interests held directly —
Daiwa BVI Limited ABRIHE AWRRES 10000%7 100% ARELAA RERR
British Virgin Islands British Virgin Islands US$10,000 Limited liability company Investment holdings
BisaRE —
Interests held indirectly -
HEETERAR ZBRUHE HE YEY 100% HRELAA NIZE
Chiasso Inc. British Virgin Islands Mainland China US$2 Limited liability company Sub-contract manufacturing
ANEEARAT) ZBRIHE B e 100% ERELAA RERK
Daiwa Associate Ltd British Virgin Islands Hong Kong US$2 Limited liability company Investment holdings
ATEHERAR AR ABRIHE ABRRES 1,000%7T 100% EREEAA RERR
Daiwa Distribution Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands British Virgin Islands US$1,000 Limited liability company Investment holdings
Elite Century Holdings Ltd. ABRIES B 2500,000%7C 100% ARELAA RERR
British Virgin Islands Hong Kong US$2,500,000 Limited liability company Investment holdings
EREEARAR & B 10,0007 100% AREEAA RERR
Cosmos Power Holdings Ltd Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 Limited liability company Investment holdings
HHEFARAT & & 23T 100% BREMLAA HESTREER
Cypress Distribution Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2 Limited liability company Manufacture of consumer
electronics

aMEEERAERAXA 100
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—FEFFE=F=1—H 31 March 2010
20. HMBRARANRE®) 20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
HRAL/ R i RERAt
Place of B ERARARRE Percentage
A incorporation/ Principal place Issued and fully ofequity EEEREH TEER
Company establishment of operation paid up share capital interest held  Type of legal entity Principal activities

BREEE —(2)
Interests held indirectly — (continued)

HMETIEARAR &4 &% 28T 100% BREEAT HERTHEER
Cypress Electronics Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2 Limited liability company Manufacture of consumer
electronics
ANERERSEERAR &% & 1,000,000%7 100% ERERRHA HEREHTRER
Daiwa Acoustic Products Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 Limited liability company Manufacturing and trading of
Manufacturing Limited acoustic products
ANES(RE)ERAR B & 28T 100% EBEEAA EELHES
Daiwa Associate (China) Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HKS2 Limited liability company Property holdings
ELEEL & 30 ERER100ET 100% AREEAT ERRIBER
Daiwa Associate (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares Limited liability company Management and
HK$100 administrative service
BRZEETH
3,000,000%7
()
Non-voting
deferred shares
HK$3,000,000
(note (i)
ANETERAR &t & 5,000,000 7 100% EREEAA i
Daiwa Distribution Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$5,000,000 Limited liability company Distribution of electronic
components
AREEERAT & &k 1000077 100% BRREAT Ewi s
Daiwa Digital Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 Limited liability company Distribution of electronic
components
AAERARLT Bk B 10,0007 100% ERELAA RERR
Daiwa Electronic Ltd. Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 Limited liability company Investment holdings
ANTIXERAT & 30 500087 100% ABRELAT REEk
Daiwa Industrial Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$5,000 Limited liability company Investment holdings
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20. HHBATNKRE®

aa

Company

HESARE — (&)

B ANE VRS
Place of
incorporation/
establishment

Interests held indirectly — (continued)

=8

ANBE(RRRRARRE)ERAT  RA
Daiwa Manufacturing (Macao Commercial Macau

Offshore) Company Limited

ANEERRAR
Daiwa Manufacturing Limited

af2 NERAR
Daiwa Maxiworld Limited

BHBHARAT

Daiwa Interconnect Limited

ANEEIZARAA

Daiwa Precision Industrial Ltd.

AfERERAR
Daiwa Resources Limited

ANERERAT
Daiwa System Limited

BNES (ER)ERAA

Daiwa Trading (Guangdong) Ltd.

Imtec Components Ltd.

&
Hong Kong

&
Hong Kong

&%
Hong Kong

&
Hong Kong

&%
Hong Kong

&%
Hong Kong

&

Hong Kong

&b
Hong Kong

aNEEERAERAA
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20.

TELENY
Principal place
of operation

1ol
Macau

&%
Hong Kong

&
Hong Kong

&%
Hong Kong

&
Hong Kong

&%
Hong Kong

&%
Hong Kong

&%
Hong Kong

&%
Hong Kong

i RERDL
EETRBRRA Percentage
Issued and fully of equity
paid up share capital  interest held
100,000MOP 100%
MOP$100,000
4B 100%
HKS4
10087 100%
HK$100
10007 100%
HK$1,000
10,0007 100%
HK$10,000
50007 100%
HK$5,000
48T 100%
HKS4
4B 100%
HK$4
10,0007 100%
HK$10,000

EERRER
Type of legal entity

EREERA
Limited liability company

ERERAR
Limited liability company

EREEAF
Limited liability company

BRELEAT
Limited liability company

BRREAR
Limited liability company

BRELAT
Limited liability company

BRELAT
Limited liability company

BREMAA

Limited liability company

EREEAR
Limited liability company

31 March 2010

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

IERH

Principal activities

EF BN REEERYE

Manufacture of electronic
components and
consumer products

HERTTENRANET
EXEERE

Manufacture of electronic
components and
manufacturing services
of electronic products

EFTEMHEH
Distribution of electronic
components

Ry {1z
Distribution of Electronic
Components

]

Procurement of materials

RERR
Investment holdings

BhrEtEs
Trading of computer
components

AR

Investment holdings

RARK
Investment holdings
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A
Company

HEERRE — (%)

Interests held indirectly — (continued)

AREFARAT
Unity Electrical Industrial Ltd.

RREETARLH

Vastpoint Imtec Electronics Ltd.

IRafEEEFRITERAR
Beijing Daiwa Vastpoint Electronics
Technology Ltd.

HEET (TR AR

China Faith Electronics (Heyuan) Ltd.

RRETETARAR
Dongguan Cosmos Electronics Ltd.

At (H8)BRAA
Daiwa Component (Shanghai) Ltd.

A (RN ERAT

Daiwa Component (Shenzhen) Ltd.

20. HHEBLATNKRE®

HRAL/ R
Place of
incorporation/
establishment

&4
Hong Kong

&%

Hong Kong

]
Mainland China

el
Mainland China

el
Mainland China

e
Mainland China

HEl
Mainland China

20.

TEAENY
Principal place
of operation

3
Hong Kong

&t
Hong Kong
HE

Mainland China

el
Mainland China

el
Mainland China

el
Mainland China

Mainland China

i RERAt
Percentage
of equity
interest held

BRORARRE
Issued and fully
paid up share capital

2,000,000 7 95%
HK$2,000,000

100%7 100%
HKS100

AMREAER 100%
800,000 ARHE

Registered and
paid up capital
RMB800,000

HREAER 100%
1,200,000%7

Registered and
paid up capital
US$1,200,000

A RESERARK 100%
2,000,0007

Registered and
paid up capital
RMB2,000,000

i RE&E7 200,000 100%
e

Registered and
paid up capital
US$200,000

HREAER 100%
2,000,007

Registered and
paid up capital
HK$2,000,000

HERRER
Type of legal entity

HRERAR
Limited liability company

BEREEAT
Limited liability company

B2 EEALT
Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

RN
Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

R ERALA
Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

B2 EEALR
Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

RN
Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

31 March 2010

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

TERH

Principal activities

HERGHERER
Manufacture of electric wire

Bt s
Distribution of electronic
components

B 1757
Distribution of electronic
components

HESTHEBER
Manufacture of consumer
electronics

EFERLERK
Contract electronic
manufacture service

B 1757
Distribution of electronic
components

ERpn i
Distribution of electronic
components
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SFFE=A=T-H

aa

Company

BisaEs —(2)
Interests held indirectly — (continued)

ANET (TR BRAR
Daiwa Electronics (Heyuan) Co. Ltd.

af(ZR)ETIEARAR
Daiwa (Zhaoging) Electronics Industrial
Limited

RERELERERAT
Dongguan Wafer Semi-Conductor
Co,, Ltd.

WA
REE

AR ARAR
Maxi World Technology (Shenzhen)

Limited

SREX(TR) ARAR
Unity Industrial (Heyuan) Ltd.

aEMEEERAERAA 104
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20. HHBATNKRE®

HMAL/ RIS
Place of
incorporation/
establishment

il
Mainland China

|
Mainland China

hE
Mainland China

E

Mainland China

hE
Mainland China

20.

TELEHY
Principal place
of operation

HE
Mainland China

HE
Mainland China

HEl
Mainland China

i

Mainland China

HE
Mainland China

31 March 2010

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

BRTRAEREK
Issued and fully
paid up share capital

HAMREHER
3,600,005

Registered and
paid up capital
1S$3,600,000

AMREEER
3,384,000% 7

Registered and
paid up capital
US$3,384,000

HERT,712,000 7
E#4750,858,513
A

Registered capital
HK$71,712,000
Paid up capital
HK$59,858,513

RALGE S
300,000%T

Registered and paid up
capital US$300,000

2,050,000/ 7
BAAA,749.964
E9

Registered capital
US$2,050,000
Paid up capital
US$1,749,964

i RERDL
Percentage
of equity
interest held

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

EERRER
Type of legal entity

NELERALR
Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

EE N
Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

EREEERR
Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

RN
Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

B2 EERLR
Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

IERE

Principal activities

ANETEREERKR
HESTHEER

Contract electronic
manufacture service
and manufacture of
consumer electronics

YeBTTEH
Manufacture of electronic
components

HESTRM
Manufacture of electronic
components

ERpn (v
Distribution of electronic
components

BEERER
Manufacture of electric wire
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SFFE=A=T-H

g
Company

HEERRE — (%)

Interests held indirectly — (continued)

RREET M) ERAT

Vastpoint Imtec Electronics (Shenzhen)

Ltd.

BEZTES (L8) ARAA
Vastpoint Imtec Electronics (Shanghai)

Ltd.

Daiwa Distribution (Alberta) Inc.

Daiwa Distribution (B.C.) Inc.

Daiwa Distribution (Nova Scotia) Inc.

Daiwa Distribution (Ontario) Inc.

20. HHBLATNKRE®

HRAL/ R
Place of
incorporation/
establishment

el
Mainland China

el
Mainland China

JIEYNH ]
Alberta, Canada

MEAEEFRILE
British Columbia, Canada

IEAHHRATE

Nova Scotia, Canada

IERZARE

Ontario, Canada

20.

TELENY
Principal place
of operation

Gl
Mainland China

el
Mainland China

JIEIN

Canada

nex
Canada

JIEIN

Canada

JIEIN

Canada

BRORARRE
Issued and fully
paid up share capital

A RE&ER
2,000,007

Registered and
paid up capital
HK$2,000,000

AMREAER
14000057

Registered and paid up
capital US$140,000

12010
CAD120

300,000
(GAD300,000

100417
CAD100

700,000
CGAD700,000

i RERAt
Percentage
of equity
interest held

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

RN
Type of legal entity

ERERALA
Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

B2 EERLD
Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

BRAEAT

Limited liability company

EREFAT)
Limited liability company

EREAT

Limited liability company

BRELAA
Limited liability company

31 March 2010

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

TERH

Principal activities

E s
Distribution of electronic
components

Bt
Distribution of electronic
components

HERAHERERR
ETEm

Sales and distribution of
computer goods and
electronic goods

HERAHERERR
ETER

Sales and distribution of
computer goods and
electronic goods

HERDHERERR
BTEm

Sales and distribution of
computer goods and
electronic goods

HERAHERERR
ETER

Sales and distribution of
computer goods and
electronic goods
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20. HHBATNKRE®

A

Company

HEERRE — (%)

Interests held indirectly — (continued)

Daiwa Holdings Inc.

Daiwa Precision Industrial Ltd.

Daiwa Semitron Supplies (Canada) Inc.

Westpac Holdings Inc.

Westpac Technology Inc.

et -

HRAL/ R
Place of
incorporation/
establishment

MEAZARE
Ontario, Canada

MEAZARE
Ontario, Canada

MEAZARE
Ontario, Ganada

JIEYNIN:E]
Ontario, Canada

IERZARE

Ontario, Canada

i) ERANARBZMBAT - DARRES
ENAEEEREERASEARBARFERE
BFEZER  IHBEAEERBHEEZM
BRE - EEFEMHBATNZER EF
BRSRBNITE

(i) BREBELERND LB RTERERTRR
EEEOR  BRIEETBRBRDENES
100,000,000,000,000 87T °

(iii) BE-_ZT-—TE-_A=-1+—HLFESHB
AR EEABBRITIEEER -
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20.

FEEGY

Principal place

of operation

nex
Canada

nex
Canada

JIEYN
Canada

JIEIN

Canada

JIEIN

Canada

Notes:

(ii)

(i)

31 March 2010

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

i RERAt
ERTRARRA Percentage
Issued and fully ofequity FEERER TTER
paid up share capital interest held  Type of legal entity Principal activities
223015107 100% BREEAT RERR
(CAD223,016 Limited liability company Investment holdings
117 100% EREEAA REAR
CAD1 Limited liability company Investment holdings
117 100% EREEAA HERAHERERR
CAD1 Limited liability company ETER
Sales and distribution of
computer goods and
electronic goods
17 100% EBREEAA LS
CAD1 Limited liability company Property holdings
107 100% ARALAA RERR
CAD1 Limited liability company Investment holdings

The above list includes the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the Company’s directors and the Group’s management,
principally contributed the results or formed a substantial portion of the
net assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would result
in particulars of excessive length.

The non-voting deferred shares have no voting rights, and are
not entitled to any distributions upon winding up unless a sum of
HK$100,000,000,000,000 has been distributed to the holders of ordinary
shares.

None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at any time during
the year ended 31 March 2010.
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21. HEEZEHERERS

i

Bk A
fuot

=L

Name

EEAMEs TRt
BEIEARAR]

Daiwa (Southern) Precision
Industrial Limited

BATRA BRI Z

21.

31 March 2010

INTEREST IN A JOINTLY CONTROLLED

ENTITY

Net book amount

[F) 2 ) & B8 2 12

hEME
Nature
of entity

HRING B H

Sino-Foreign
cooperative
joint venture

b AEEHEREERE —EERFENERY
HEBMERAEARZEEE BUARES

RIEARFEEIEHHH o

&5
Group
—2-% —FTh
2010 2009
FET TFHET
HK$°000 HK$’000

The Group has interests in the following jointly controlled entity which is

established in the Mainland China:

FEEWR
Principal
activities

EE

Inactive

mEE
Ownership
interest

60%

RERE BN EBEI#®

Voting Profit/loss
power sharing
60% 60%

During the year, the directors of the Company resolved to write off
the Group’s interest in a jointly controlled entity as the entity has been
inactive since 2005 and did not have a substantial value to the Group.
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—E—ZFF=-H=1—H 31 March 2010
22, BtENTRIER 22. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATED COMPANY
%M
Group
2= —ZTTN
2010 2009
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
BREVFE Net book amount — —
BRI R &8 2 B A RIFERAT ¢ Details of the associated company, which is a limited liability company

established and operating in Japan, are as follows:

RAERES
ERITRBEER BoLERR
Issued and Percentage
HiE fully paid of equity FTEEK
Name up capital interest held Principal activity
AMZTERA Gt 23,400,000HH 47% SHE R EEY B SRR B T AR 1 ST e 14
Daiwa Sound Company Limited YENZ23,400,000 Trading and manufacturing of speaker
(“DSC”) elements and components

aEMEEERAERAXA 108
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—FEFFE=F=1—H 31 March 2010
23. AtHESHEE 23. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS
£
Group
—z-=% =z
2010 2009
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
E34) Beginning of the year 168 319
Wezs,/ (B518 ) B EE AR Net gains/(losses) transferred to equity 137 (151)
AR End of the year 305 168
AHEESREERT Available-for-sale financial assets include the following:
£@
Group
—z-=% —zzh
2010 2009
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
EmES Listed securities:
RS — BB Equity securities — Hong Kong, denominated in
LA TR B AL Hong Kong dollar 305 168
EmESmISEE Market value of listed securities 305 168

109 eNEmEERAER QA
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24, FE

AmEFE
S
SR

e

FE — 8%

24. INVENTORIES

Trading merchandise
Raw materials
Work-in-progress
Finished goods

Inventories — gross

31 March 2010

&£ H

Group
e —ZTTN
2010 2009
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
132,595 94,499
92,066 71,185
25,455 20,271
11,228 21,161
261,344 207,116
(25,417) (1,812)
235,927 205,304

FEREEE Provision for impairment
T8 — %A Inventories — net
et - Notes:

(i)

(i)

(il

BERAEAERARBIEESHABEREE
B #91,415,891,0008 T ( ZB2E AL 4F ¢
1,389,393,000/87T) °

EF R E 52,228,000 L(Z T hF :
6,518,000/ 7C) ' EREREGHIIBEREE
BRANH o

FREGEDNT

REA—H
FERERE

R=A=+—H

AEEFEREREEZEASE R BHE
F £ ELR 2 5T BIFTE - 4118 16,251,000
BIT ° IbA) - EERE DSCEMRREMNBE
HBMHRR - RELER EZBRBHER
EiE - BtmiEL T 7,354,000 AT -

aMEEERAERAXA 110
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(ii)

(iii)

The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and included in cost of
sales in the consolidated income statement amounted to approximately
HK$1,415,891,000 (2009: HK$1,389,393,000).

Write-down of inventories amounted to HK$2,228,000 (2009:
HK$6,518,000), which have been included in cost of sales in the

consolidated income statement.

Movement on the provision for inventory is as follows:

£m
Group

= b 0

2010 2009

FET TET

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 1,812 1,812

Provision for inventory impairment 23,605 =

At 31 March 25,417 1,812

Included in provision for impairment for the year was an amount of
approximately HK$16,251,000 made in connection with the Group’s
plan to scale down certain low profit margin product lines. In addition,
during the year the Group also agreed to accept return of certain
inventories from DSC as partial settlement of the amount due from DSC.
The conditions of the returned inventories has been re-evaluated by the
directors as at the balance sheet date and consequently a provision of
HK$7,354,000 has been made thereon.
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25. BREXRKREREVRRE

& s SR AR

B - PR SERRTRURL (B XE

AESTS
(a) AEBZEREXEEEERATEEA
BE -
BT
AR
e
IERTT

JEW S ARTAE R E AP ERE

JEUW S X RIAY |METHEERR -

SEERZEF  EH TR

25.

Trade receivables

Less: provision for impairment

Notes receivable

Note:

(a)

Hong Kong dollar
Chinese Renminbi
United States dollar
Canadian dollar

31 March 2010

TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES

£H

Group
—=2-=F —ZTTN
2010 2009
FET FrEr
HK$’000 HK$’000
196,701 130,714
(1,467) (2,745)
195,234 127,969
13,036 11,663
208,270 139,632

The carrying amount of the Group’s trade receivables are denominated
in the following currencies:

£H

Group
et —TThH
2010 2009
FET FHEIT
HK$°000 HK$’000
57,899 51,974
53,905 29,565
63,459 30,039
21,438 19,136
196,701 130,714

The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate their fair values.

There is no concentration of credit risk with respect to trade receivables
as there are a large number of widely dispersed customers.
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25. EWEX£REREREE

Hiat (&)

AEBEZ KA DHERLERS  RE—R
H=tREATR - BREXRBAZREKS
o :

(b)

/.

7

PRAHR
ANTRE—EHEZ=TX

BE-B_TX

F\

R_ZE—ZF=-A=+—H0 Eh&%
fE 1B 465,716,000/ (= T T A F:
49,202,000) 4 B @ BB EFRME o tEER
B REZ AR R ERCENBLE
F o W EE SRBGRMBRIR DT T ¢

DRANTR
ANTRE—AZTX
BR—B=-tX

VRARRBENRKEXRENEEEE
TVEBRSERMYF AR L RNBEER
HITRHE - BEHFHBELEIER -

R-ZZT—ZTF=A=+—H0 EREXKEHE
1,467,000/ 7.(= T T A F : 2,745,000)
KERE - R_ZE—FF=ZA=+—8"
B S % A1,467,0008 T(ZEZEHhF -
2,745,0007 7T ) ° {E BIE (B & FE Uk 2 2R
BRERERUIMEERSZEFHNER o ItERE
R HIBRER AN

BR—E=tX

A

aNEEERAERAA
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31 March 2010

25. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (continued)

Note: (continued)
(b) Majority of the Group’s sales are made on open account, with credit
terms generally ranging from 30 days to 90 days. The ageing analysis of
trade receivables is as follows:

£H

Group
—Z2-=Z —ZETNh
2010 2009
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$°000
Less than 60 days 140,484 100,969
60 days to 120 days 45,144 18,043
Over 120 days 11,073 11,702
196,701 130,714

At 31 March 2010, trade receivables approximately of HK$65,716,000
(2009: HK$49,202,000) were past due but not considered to be impaired
because these mainly relate to a number of independent customers for
whom there is no recent history of default. The ageing analysis of these
trade receivables is as follows:

£HE

Group
—2-2 —ZTH
2010 2009
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000
Less than 60 days 47,676 30,312
60 days to 120 days 12,121 9,933
Over 120 days 5,919 8,957
65,716 49,202

The credit quality of trade receivables neither past due nor impaired
has been assessed by reference to historical information about the
counterparty default rates. The existing counterparties do not have
significant defaults in the past.

At 31 March 2010, trade receivables of approximately HK$1,467,000
(2009: HK$2,745,000) were impaired. The amount of the provision
was HK$1,467,000 as of 31 March 2010 (2009: HK$2,745,000). The
individually impaired receivables mainly relate to customers which are in
unexpected difficult economic situations. The ageing of these receivables
is as follows:

£
Group
2% —ZTAH
2010 2009
FET FHET
HK$°000 HK$°000
Over 120 days 1,467 2,745
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—E—ZFF=-H=1—H 31 March 2010

25. EWEX£REREREE » 25. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (continued)

Hiat : (#) Note: (continued)
(c) FELU A% S B TR B R ) E BT (c) Movement on the provision for trade receivables is as follows:
£
Group
—E-F —ZTTh
2010 2009
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
MA—H At 1 April 2,745 1,973
JEUs i 2 BR TERL (B 1 1 Provision for trade receivable impairment 596 2,409
FRNF|BARGEREIH Receivables written off during the year as
FE UG SE AR TE SR uncollectable (1,874) (1,637)
=H=+—H At 31 March 1,467 2,745
(b) W EE (d) Notes receivable
AAFEESE  EWEEEEENOESN The carrying amounts of notes receivable approximate their fair values
EAVYE RZZE—TF=A=+—HMEAE due to their short maturity. As at 31 March 2010, all the notes receivable
FEWEEIY AE = EHWERIEITER represent bank acceptance notes issued by third parties with average
mFEHEEHE B120K(ZFZ N F : 120 maturity of within 120 days (2009: 120 days) and HK$11,551,000 being
K)o HF 11,551,000 BT (ZEEHEF denominated in RMB (2009: HK$11,663,000) and HK$1,485,000 being
11,663,000 7% 7T ) E 28 A A R ¥ K 1,485,000 denominated in USD (2009: Nil).

BIL(ZETNF : B)ERAET
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31 March 2010

26. AWFE REeRHEMEWE 26. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
18

RECEIVABLES
£H AT
Group Company
=== —ZETN —E2-F —ZTN,
2010 2009 2010 2009
FET & FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000
TARTRIR Prepayments 8,961 6,816 109 —
HEZe Rental deposits 635 927 — —
E At R UCGRIE (7 72) Other receivables (note) 19,876 9,142 - 114
29,472 16,885 109 114

Hie# - Note:

R-ZTE—TFE=A=+—H HtEKRZKEFLE
—EHEBYE=ZFRAMRZERRI R ERL
3,868,000/ 7L (= EZ /L4 : 3,868,000/ 7T) © R
AEEEZBYE=FR_ZET+FNAMTLZE
HiE - BRR_TENFAA=T=RAFBEE
fﬁ%lﬁ'lﬁﬁéﬁ’\ AE RS EREAGZE=ENE
DZTRFER - RFER - KENEFERITETER
BEZAMTE  EFET TRAERGZ  REER
EBERIPARAIERNHEE_STAF+—A=1+
H - HMERERTE  BE T ZTF=A=1+—
=] ﬁﬁ?ﬁ&tTAEEﬁﬂxfﬁ”ﬂ%X%WEL THER - B
1%52% TH BB IR 2RI R K o %lﬁ%%ﬁi%fﬁ
RAIZ MR BIEEE - RAZERARBRER
ZE%EJELXfﬁﬁﬁfﬁuﬁlﬁﬁzgﬁﬁf’ﬁﬁzH/fillﬂl@

ENEEBEERAR AT 114
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Included in other receivables of the Group as at 31 March 2010 was a loan
due from an independent third party company of HK$3,868,000 (2009: HK$
3,868,000), which is unsecured and interest free. Pursuant to the original loan
agreement entered into with the third party in September 2007, the loan is
repayable on 23 September 2008 whereby the Group may at any time before
that convert the amount into 10% equity interest in the third party. During the
year, the Group continued to explore on exercising the convertible option and
supplementary agreements were subsequently signed by both parties which
ultimately extend the maturity date of the loan and the conversion period to 30
November 2009 with other terms remain unchanged. As at 31 March 2010, while
the negotiation for acquisition of equity interest in the third party has been on-
going, the amount becomes repayable on demand. The directors have assessed
the financial strength of the third party and are of the opinion that credit risk
for non-performance by this third party is relatively low and it is expected that
the receivable would either be recovered through repayment or as settlement
of consideration payable for the acquisition of equity interest in the third party
company.
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27. BERBEESEEY 27.
RITHEER Cash at bank
RE & Cash on hand

RekB2EBYMUTIESREN

BT Hong Kong dollar
AR Chinese Renminbi
ET United States dollar
meAxT Canadian dollar
Efh Others

RITFERRBEERAR S MRITERZH =X
RIFI S - KB 2 RITERTOHARK S
B ER BTN - EE AN AR EBINE K
RIESR - AF LR BEBFAINERE

31 March 2010

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

£H AT

Group Company
—E2-F —TThH 22 —ZTTh
2010 2009 2010 2009
FET FETT FExT FHET
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’'000
161,850 121,957 962 599
4,777 2,599 - —
166,627 124,556 962 599

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies:

£8 AT

Group Company
=27 —TTH =27 —ZTZTN
2010 2009 2010 2009
FET FET FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’'000
34,358 33,027 962 599
19,398 15,396 - -
103,786 71,522 — —
8,898 4,566 - -
187 45 - —
166,627 124,556 962 599

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. The Group’s cash and bank balance denominated in
RMB are deposited with banks in the Mainland China. The conversion
of these RMB-denominated balances into foreign currencies and the
remittance of funds out of Mainland China is subject to the rules and
regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the Government
of the People’s Republic of China.
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28. B8

FEAH

RITER

B FEARERITE R 2
AERER (D

8
REIRITER
FEARHRITER 2 AR H D
RITEFEER
MEMEEEREWZ ()

BERE
(0] EEEFHANT
—FA
—FEMEA
—FERFNA
EMBEEERERALAA 116
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28. BORROWINGS

Non-current
Bank borrowings
Less: current portion of non-current bank
borrowings

Current
Short-term bank borrowings
Current portion of non-current bank borrowings
Trust receipts bank loans
Finance lease liabilities (note (iv))

Total borrowings

31 March 2010

(i) The maturity of the borrowings is as follows:

Within 1 year
Between 1 and 2 years
Between 2 and 5 years

&8

Group
e —ZTTN
2010 2009
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
66,151 69,541
(29,471) (35,488)
36,680 34,053
13,000 16,000
29,471 35,488
151,800 109,222
- 1,078
194,271 161,788
230,951 195,841

%m

Group
—E2-=F —ZTTN,
2010 2009
FET FET
HK$’°000 HK$’000
194,271 161,788
19,060 34,0583
17,620 —
230,951 195,841
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28. BE )

31 March 2010

28. BORROWINGS (continued)

(ii) EERATEBARK (i) The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in the
following currencies:
£

Group
—=2-=F —ZTTN
2010 2009
FET FrEr
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT Hong Kong dollar 180,984 195,483
ETT United States dollar 49,967 358
230,951 195,841
(ifi) RNEEBBXRBEEERFX L NKEE (iii) The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest rate changes
HERMT - and the weighted average effective interest rates at the balance

sheet date are as follows:
&£H

Group
—E-F —TTh
2010 2009
FET FEIT
HK$’000 HK$°000
— FHEX — at floating rates 230,951 195,841

=t 3 —TTh

2010 2009
BT 7 BT E
HK$ uss$ HK$ Us$
fR17{E5L &7 Trust receipt bank loans 2.09% 2.12% 3.37% 2.20%
SRITEX Bank borrowings 1.90% - 3.44% —
BEMEEAME  Finance lease liabilities - = 2.89% _

PR B3R SR R AR (E B X P E AR

i o

All borrowings are unsecured and the carrying amounts approximate
their fair values.
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28. BE ) 28.

(iv) SEZBMEREREEZOMAT ¢

RIEEEE B

31 March 2010

BORROWINGS (continued)

(iv) The Group’s finance lease obligations were analysed as follows:
%£H
Group
—E-=F —ZTN,
2010 2009
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$'000

Total minimum lease payments

— — %R — Within one year - 1,083
JB  RIRBE T H Less: Future finance charges - (5)
— 1,078

RMEHEREZREDTOT

—%R
FEA & SRR TR

ABHHEBATERS - BB —RH =X
EATR:

Within one year

29. 29.

JER 2R RIBZ IR AATANT

The present value of finance lease liabilities is analysed as
follows:

—z-% ~TTN
2010 2009
FHAT FHAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
= 1,078

TRADE PAYABLES

Payment terms with majority of the suppliers are on open account.
Certain suppliers grant credit period ranging from 30 to 60 days.

The ageing analysis of trade payables is as follows:

&5

Group
—2-=2 —TTN
2010 2009
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
AP N Less than 60 days 237,737 130,830
ANHRE—B-+X 60 days to 120 days 12,504 6,084
BE—A=-tX Over 120 days 8,468 1,912
258,709 138,826

aMNEEERAER XA 118
Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited




B 75 R 3R B =

—EZTFE=H=1—H

29.

30.

31.
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PEA & ZERRIE ()

eI & EIRIEIRIA T EWARR

29.

31 March 2010

TRADE PAYABLES (continued)

Trade payables are denominated in the following currencies:

£
Group
—E-Z —ZTTN
2010 2009
FET FEr
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT Hong Kong dollar 12,726 13,464
AR Chinese Renminbi 14,949 11,600
e United States dollar 223,593 87,873
meAxxT Canadian dollar 6,154 22,590
= Japanese Yen 1,287 3,299
258,709 138,826
=k
EREAREMENSRIE 30. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES
£8 AT

Group Company
—E-=Z —ZTTN —E-Z =TT,
2010 2009 2010 2009
FET FETL FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
e e RAEAT Accrual for salaries and bonuses 10,535 9,254 - —
TR K Receipts in advance 7,580 1,981 - =
R EEER Accrued operating expenses 7,699 4,726 425 428
JEEEER Construction fee payables 389 3,594 - =
B FE TR Other payables 1,566 528 - =
27,769 20,083 425 428

TTEE®MIT A 31. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

R-ZE-—ZFF=A=1+—H AEERIWEH
BEAAREENIINEEHEH - R=FTA
FZRA=1t—H SEHNAEREENETR
ARBZIINEEHEHN R_ZTTNF=H
=t HARAREEIERHA N EBEEA
65,877,000/ 7T °

As at 31 March 2010, the Group did not have any outstanding forward
foreign currency contracts. As at 31 March 2009, the Group had
outstanding forward foreign currency contracts to sell/purchase United
States dollar and Chinese Renminbi. The notional principal amounts of
the outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts at 31 March 2009
were approximately HK$65,877,000.
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31 March 2010

32. ERELEFEH 32. DEFERRED INCOME TAX
EAEECEAMAIERAHRBEERIREHRIER Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
B - MELEHIES &R — B B#EER - Rl legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax
AELEFMGBREERREMSHAEEAEK liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal
HeAMEERBRLELZES  BEEEZK authority. The balances shown in the consolidated balance sheet are,
BT ¢ after appropriate offsetting, as follows:

|
Group
—E-Z —ZTTH
2010 2009
FET FEL
HK$’000 HK$’000
RREFHIBEE - Deferred income tax assets, to be recovered after
+ =@ A &Y more than 12 months 927 172
EEFIEAE - Deferred income tax liabilities, to be settled after
RTZERREE more than 12 months (1,877) (8,347)
RIEFIE & EFE Net deferred income tax liabilities (950) (3,175)
EET BB The movement on deferred income tax account is as follow:
|
Group
—E-F —ZTThH
2010 2009
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
ER ) Beginning of the year (3,175) (4,094)
EAHFBREER(AZ11) Credited to the consolidated income statement
(Note 11) 2,225 919
HiR End of the year (950) (3,175)
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32. EEMBH » 32.

EREEREAEREE S
B2 IR mT

(B[R —EHiit

31 March 2010

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)

The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities prior to offsetting of
balances within the same taxation jurisdiction is as follows:

BEEMREBEEE Deferred tax assets
w8
Tax losses
22 —ZTTh
2010 2009
FET FrEr
HK$°000 HK$’000
E34) Beginning of the year 712 1,541
Credited/(charged) to the consolidated income
A GRBREER (288) statement 1,086 (829)
AR End of the year 1,798 712
EEHEEE Deferred tax liabilities
MEBIBHE
NEHE Accelerated tax B
Withholding tax depreciation Total
-“2-2 —ZTH -2-2 2T ~2-2 —ZEN
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
FEx FET FET FBT FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
REA—A At 1 April 196 = 3,691 5,635 3,887 5,635
EAMFBERLE/ (RBE) Charged/(credited) to the consolidated
income statement 227 196 (1,366) (1,944) (1,139) (1,748)
R=ZA=+—H At 31 March 423 196 2,325 3,691 2,748 3,887

EIE TR IA A BE TYE 7 18 2R 1] B 45 8 5R Bt o A1)
BIHMEBHENSAR  RUAEHIAEE
{ERER o N E I A 3t 2511847 84,441,000
BIL(Z T T NF ¢ 47,744,0007% 7T ) HE R IE
IR I & E #920,699,0008 TL(ZT T NEF ¢
11,601,000 4 7T ) + 1t 55 4 78 &5 48 o] 4K 35 % 2Rk
WERB AN - R=ZT—TF=A=+—H "
2 HIBEE A 77,336,000/ T R -F
——Z-_FT—hFHMER - MR T 7,105,000
785 7T B A 42 (R HR 4 85 18 2R 2 FERR B Al ©

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried
forward to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit
through the future taxable profits is probable. The Group did not
recognise deferred income tax assets of approximately HK$20,699,000
(2009: HK$11,601,000) in respect of accumulated losses amounting
to approximately HK$84,441,000 (2009: HK$47,744,000) that can be
carried forward against future taxable income. As at 31 March 2010,
accumulated tax loss amounting to approximately HK$77,336,000 is
expiring in 2011 to 2015, while the remaining balance of approximately
HK$7,105,000 can be carried forward indefinitely to offset against future
taxable income.
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—E—ZFF=-H=1—H 31 March 2010
33. BRAE — &X4nFH 33. SHARE CAPITAL
—=2-=F —TTN,
2010 2009
R EE HE EvEgE HE
Number of Nominal Number of Nominal
shares value shares value
FiR FET Fhg FAET
’000 HK$’000 ‘000 HK$’000
VERE Authorised:
LR FAREE0.107T Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 1,000,000 100,000 1,000,000 100,000
BEITRERE Issued and fully paid:

B S AREEO0.10 78T Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

k) Beginning of the year 303,644 30,364 304,230 30,423
1TERREAEF M2/ THIMED  Issue of shares upon exercise of
(KT () warrants (i) 326 33 = =

B [ A& 19 (72 (1) Purchase of own shares (ii) (26) (3) (586) (59)

HiR End of the year 303,944 30,394 303,644 30,364

Bt - Notes:

(i) RBEE-FT-—FF=HA=+—HLFE" (i) During the year ended 31 March 2010, a total of 326,000 warrants were
326,000 R R HEFE E 2 21T - AR utilised to subscribe for 326,000 shares in the Company at an aggregate
326,000 % i% 1 - 48 X {8 49 130,400 7 r‘go consideration of HK$130,400. During the year ended 31 March 2009, no
REZZZNF=A=1+—HILFE KBER warrants were utilised to subscribe for the shares of the Company.
BEAERE R AT AR EE AN A RIRRAD ©

(ii) RBEE-FT-—FF=HA=T—HLFE" (i) During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Company repurchased 26,000
‘A 7] B [B26,000 B (=TT L F: shares (2009: 586,000 shares) for HK$7,710 (2009: HK$230,010). These
586,000) * £ K 7,710 T(Z T TN F : shares were subsequently cancelled.

230,010 7T) ° BLEMRMH R EEUVH °
BBE R K2 A BERBHRRE
Number of Price per share

shares Pt B AE(E i &= E
repurchased Lowest Highest
Fhg BT BT
‘000 HK$ HK$

X 5k fHE Date of repurchase
—ZTTNFMNA April 2009 26 0.280 0.300
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34.

35.

Notes to the Financial Statements

EERERE

ARBREUE B B S - TR RAEE
ZEE(BEARRZHTES)RHBREN
BREARRZED  ERZUARRERE
BORAEE(T2ERTEEREMNETZR
0)30% RMR - ZBRETEELHAREZ
Examt NOARAROREBRERTA
ZHHE: (NEERTEREANAARSA
ARRARAD 2 FIPURTE ¢ (i) AR R 2
EESR010BT ZEARSERE

BE-2-TF=F=1—H8 AQFHESE
MR TEBRECEEAE T) RR-F
—EE=A=+—8  RERTEZEREC
ZTHE F) o

34.

31 March 2010

EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTIONS

The Company has an employee share option scheme, under which
it may grant options to employees (including executive directors of
the Company) to subscribe for shares in the Company, subject to a
maximum of 30% of the nominal value of the issued share capital of
the Company from time to time excluding for this purpose any shares
issued upon exercise of employee share options. The exercise price
will be determined by the Company’s board of directors and shall at
least be the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares
on the date of grant of the options, (ii) an average closing price of the
Company’s shares for the five days immediately preceding the date of
grant of the options, and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares
of HK$0.10 each.

No share options were granted or exercised during the year ended 31
March 2010 (2009: Nil) and no share options were outstanding as at 31
March 2010 (2009: Nil).

7 IR RERE 35. WARRANTS
HETEZE HHRHHE
REE 510 Utilised Lapsed LIPS
RTEH TR Subscription  Beginning of during during End of
Date of grant Exercise period price the year the year the year the year
T+ —-A=1+=H S o B s =
“E--f-A=+ZH
23 January 2007 23 January 2007 to 22 January 2012 HK$0.40 12,313,089 (326,000) - 11,987,089

HE-_ZTZ-—ZTF=-A=+t—HBHLEE &
326,000 f% R A% #E iE B 1715+ A 32 B 326,000
ARz, - BREX 130,400 7T - HE
—ETAE=ZA=F+—AILEE  ERRET
TEARBARR ZEH °

During the year ended 31 March 2010, a total of 326,000 warrants
were utilised to subscribe for 326,000 shares in the Company at an
aggregate consideration of HK$130,400. During the year ended 31
March 2009, no warrants were utilised to subscribe for the shares of
the Company.
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—E—ZFF=-H=1—H 31 March 2010
36. f#fE 36. RESERVES
(a) £8 (a) Group
e
SHEE
bR
Available-
X for-sale
BER financial
RfaE BRI Capital R EE (i) assets REEH
Share Capital  redemption Exchange Statutory  revaluation Retained @
premium reserve (i) reserve reserve reserve (ii) reserve profits Total

TET FAT TAT T T FAT FET TAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

R-SENEMA-B  As1 Apri 2009 214,950 41,201 1,394 1,061 90 26 95,010 353,732
rEERR Loss for the year = = = = = = (31,630) (31,630)
NEmE Exchange translations = = = 10,350 = = = 10,350
L) Issue of new shares o7 = = = = = = o7
KA Purchase of own shares (5) = 8 = = = 8 (5)
AtNESHEERE  Fairvalue gains on
B available-for-sale
financial assets - - - - - 137 - 137
REi#135) Dividends (Note 15) = = = = = = (2429) (2,429)
RZ%-%% At 31 March 2010
=R=t-H 215,042 41,201 1,402 1,411 90 163 60,943 330,262
AR - Representing:
RERSRE Proposed dividend =
£ Others 60,943
60,943
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—E—ZFF=H=1—H 31 March 2010
36. #E 36. RESERVES (continued)
(a) £HE(E) (a) Group (continued)
e
SRHEE
EfifkfE
Available-
Ex for-sale
BER financial
RVEE BEREE() Capital Erifl SEE () assets REER
Share Capital  redemption Exchange Statutory  revaluation Retained @it
premium reserve (i) reserve reserve reserve (ii) reserve profits Total

TAT T T FAT FET T TAT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

R-ZSN\EMA—H  At1Apri 2008 215,121 41,201 1,164 9,790 920 508 89,466 357,340

TEERF Profit for the year = = = = = = 7115 7115

NERE Exchange translations - - - (8,729) - - - (8,729)

RipEkE Purchase of own shares (i) = 230 = = = (230) (17

177 Transfer - - - - - (331) 331 -

AfHESRAR Fair value losses on

FHEBE avallable-for-sale
financial assets - - - - - (151) - (151)
R Dividends - - - - - - (1672) (1672)
RZZENE At 31 March 2009
=A=1+-A 214,950 41,201 1,394 1,061 920 26 95,010 358,732

AR - Representing:

REXEBRE Proposed dividend 1518

it Others 93,492

95,010

Hiat - Note:

0} NEBZERRBEREARNREITZ (i) Capital reserve of the Group represents the difference between
R EEEBRER — LN EEEE the nominal amount of the share capital issued by the Company
BHEEZETARQRMNERQ AR and the nominal amount of the share capital of the subsidiaries
HEMEZZH  MER=TZTZT transferred to the Company pursuant to a group reorganisation
F=ZA=+—BHKRFEERAHI R in 1994, plus the credit of HK$51,594,000 from share capital
A% 2N 8 M 2 A /9 B 82 51,594,000 as a result of a reduction of the Company’s share capital took
I place during the year ended 31 March 2000.

(ii) FRAEZNBRARZEERTE (i) Statutory reserve of a subsidiary in Mainland China can be
& AELAERUTARBREARLZ utilised to offset future losses or increase in capital of the
B8 - IR A EE S FE T o AN subsidiary.

BABER -
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36. fEfE

31 March 2010

36. RESERVES (continued)

(b) RAF] (b)  Company
L AAMER%
IR A7 1E Capital BARER) REER R
Share redemption Contributed Retained st
premium reserve surplus (i) profits Total
T FET BT T FET
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
RZZZNFMHA—H At 1 April 2009 214,951 1,394 72,309 20,456 309,110
AEFER Loss for the year — - - (17) 17)
P& A7 2] B Purchase of own shares (5) 8 — 8) ()
IR MD 21T Issue of new shares 97 — = — 97
RE Kzt 15) Dividends (Note 15) - - - (2,429) (2,429)
R=Z—2F At 31 March 2010
=HA=+—H 215,043 1,402 72,309 18,002 306,756
MR Representing:
BORAR AR S Proposed dividend =
ity Others 18,002
18,002
RZZBZ)\FMHA—H At1April 2008 215,121 1,164 72,309 11,493 300,087
RE A Profit for the year — — — 10,866 10,866
A% 17 21 B Purchase of own shares [an) 230 — (230) {7
) Dividends = = = (1,672) (1,672)
R=ZBENE At 31 March 2009
=A=t+—H 214,950 1,394 72,309 20,457 309,110
AR Representing:
BORAREARR S Proposed dividend 1,518
HAth Others 18,939
20,457
Kt - Note:

ARARZHBARBRBAEER
— NN ESHEBEARABITZK
{3 E{E FB AZ #2 Daiwa BVI Limited
EETEBREEMNBAREES
EMEZEZRE MER=ZZTTZTF
= A=1+—BMERFEANBEEIRRK
T {E T 2 A B B 84 51,594,000 74
=

REBRE-NN-FREDE " &
ABBA SR FRE - ERETEE
AERZERZMNRE - HEHBAR
R DK+ 20 () DK & T RE AR HAIE
BRIz EHRHEEFEBR
BERBEETERARENEE 2R
e

EANEERERAERA
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The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
difference between the nominal amount of the Company’s
shares issued in exchange for the issued ordinary shares of
Daiwa BVI Limited and the value of net assets of its underlying
subsidiaries pursuant to a group reorganisation in 1994, plus
the credit of HK$51,594,000 from share capital as a result of a
reduction of the Company’s share capital took place during the
year ended 31 March 2000.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, contributed
surplus is distributable to shareholders, subject to the condition
that the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make
a distribution out of contributed surplus if (i) it is, or after the
payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due, or
(i) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than
the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and
share premium account.
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37. EHRERER

(a)

(b)

31 March 2010

37. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
BREBLA(BE) BANREETHEE 2 (a) Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before income tax to cash
BRESFERGTR generated from operations
—E-F —Z=Th
2010 2009
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000
BRI (EER), & F (Loss)/profit before income tax (25,951) 9,464
HE — Adjustments for —
FEBA Interest income (82) (224)
F B> Interest expense 3,701 8,050
b Ko A b {55 R AR B £ Amortisation of leasehold land and land use rights 537 595
M - S REEHITE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 16,230 17,281
FEUR & S AR IE R (B Impairment of trade receivables 596 2,409
EFRE Write-down of inventories 2,228 6,518
R AR Provision for impairment of inventories 23,605 —
Y% - HES R ERERE Impairment of property, plant and equipment 14,200 =
Bt N AR ﬁél Write-off of investment in a jointly controlled entity 1 —
BEYE - M RIEAK  Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and
b R b FAAE 2 HAtb equipment, and leasehold land and land use rights
&8, (e ) 50 (11,805)
SRMITETAQNTE Fair value loss/(gain) on derivative financial
B8 (&R) instruments 201 (6,480)
35,316 25,808
KEECES) Changes in working capital:
FE Inventories (56,887) 26,752
JE W= ZE AR IR TEHSZ%‘%TE}& Trade and notes receivables and amount due from
JE Wi B A R SRIE an associated company (56,656) 44,564
SELDE IR &é&ﬁﬁt)ﬁ“éuﬁz Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
KIE (12,587) (1,538)
FET & AR Trade payables 121,520 (23,033)
& % FR R H A FE < 518 Accruals and other payables 10,891 (4,318)
KEFBEEZFRSE Cash generated from operations 41,597 68,235

EAHBSRERA - HENE M (b)
R AR £ i R o+ 0 RO BT B

B

AREHE

HEWZE  BBENRRERLT
h F 3 E AR (B K),
27

HEME  BBRRERLT
b K o {5 PR B P S 5K IR

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds
from disposals of property, plant and equipment, and

leasehold land and land use rights comprise:

Net book amount
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment, and leasehold land and land use rights

Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and
equipment, and leasehold land and land use rights

—%-% T
2010 2009
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$°000
168 6,339

(50) 11,805

118 18,144
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%8

EHEE

AHEESmEE
JRE L 5 AR IR N B IR AR
JRE LBk i X B FRIA
BREERNTIR B2k
Hib R AR &R E E
(Krzt26)
R MR EEHEY

EHEE

FE{ & BRI
RITERE
BIEE RN & A R L pES
RAKESRERE
(K1a£30)
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BRESES2EMIRA

REERBRAMZRERI Dz e/ TARE

as at the balance sheet date are as follows:

Group

Financial assets

31 March 2010

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments

Available-for-sale financial assets

Trade and notes receivables

Amount due from an associated company

Financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables (note 26)

Cash and cash equivalents

Financial liabilities

Trade payables

Bank borrowings

Financial liabilities included in accruals and
other payables (Note 30)

—2-%
2010
AftHE
SREE
Available-
for-sale fEEREWFIE
financial Loans and wE
assets receivables Total
FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
305 - 305
- 208,270 208,270
- 4,382 4,382
- 20,511 20,511
- 166,627 166,627
305 399,790 400,095
SRAMH
B A
Financial
liabilities
at amortised wiE
cost Total
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
258,709 258,709
230,951 230,951
20,189 20,189
509,849 509,849
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38. RE¥E s2EMI A

SE(E)

EHEE

At ESRmEE
FEM R ARIR K R R
i NI/ S

BREERNZRE ke hHE
MR AN SR E E
(H1:£26)

TESmMTIA

RekReEEBY

EHEE

FE & FARIE

HRITEE (RTRERE
afE)

MEHEAE

BIEERNERREM
ENRANSREE
(H713£30)

PTESBMITA

38.

31 March 2010

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(continued)

Group (continued)

Financial assets

—ZTH
2009
MExRZ
TREERE A E
Financial SRMEE
assets at Available-
fair value for-sale  EE REWGRIEA
through financial Loans and “@E
profit or loss assets receivables Total
FrET FET FET FrET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
Available-for-sale
financial assets - 168 — 168
Trade and notes
receivables — — 139,632 139,632
Amount due from an
associated company — — 14,855 14,855
Financial assets included
in prepayments,
deposits and other
receivables (note 26) — — 10,069 10,069
Derivative financial
instruments 235 = = 235
Cash and cash
equivalents — — 124,556 124,556
235 168 289,112 289,515
Financial liabilities
Mz
SRIBEHEE =N
Financial HSHRCAN
liabilities Financial
at fair value liabilities
through at amortised #a
profit or loss cost Total
FrET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
Trade payables — 138,826 138,826
Bank borrowings (excluding finance
lease liabilities) — 194,763 194,763
Finance lease liabilities - 1,078 1,078
Financial liabilities included in accruals
and other payables (Note 30) - 18,102 18,102
Derivative financial instruments 34 — 34
34 352,769 352,803
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—E—ZFF=-H=1—H 31 March 2010
38. ZEEE S ZEMIAw 38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
(continued)
AT Company
PHEE—EEREKSE Financial assets - loans and receivables
—z-% —22h
2010 2009
FET FEr
HK$’000 HK$’000
o Ath fE R Other receivables 109 114
Re RREEED Cash and cash equivalents 962 599
1,071 713
SREE REBHERA Financial liabilities at amortised cost
BREERENERNRHMENZNSRE  Financial liabilities included in accruals and other
af& (#fi#30) payables (Note 30) 425 428
39. AR 39. COMMITMENTS
(@) BAERE (a) Capital commitments
%:%—%%&:;ﬁ%ﬂi;ﬂ =t- At 31 March 2010 and 2009, the Group’s capital commitment in
B - ARER L RIE T EAREREN respect of land and buildings were as follows:
T
£E
Group
=27 —FTh
2010 2009
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000
BEETAME REHRER Contracted but not provided for 1,547 —
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39. EiEx
b)  EERGERE

b‘é —EER_ETENF=R=+—
0 ﬁffﬁi\\ii&&@%?—f?ﬁkiﬁz%@%ﬁ

31 March 2010

39. COMMITMENTS (continued)

(b) Operating lease commitments

At 31 March 2010 and 2009, the future aggregate minimum
lease payments in respect of land and buildings under non-

%’UWJE% CEEZEBERLAEBEST cancellable operating leases were as follows:
AR -
£E
Group

== —ZTTh
2010 2009
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
EF—FK Not later than one year 5,566 5,073
E_FEERFNAN Later than one year and not later than five years 9,354 12,011
14,920 17,084

EEMmMs  SEZEERN KRB —
FERF -

REEZNFR T TF=A=+—
B REEEERZASE -

40. ERAEALXRS

MR—ZZE—ZFF=H=+—H ' Leading Trade
Limited » China Capital Holdings Investment
Limited & Cyber Concept Limited % 5l A 72
NF]20.04% (ZZZNF : 20.06%) * 31.14%
ZTTNF 2451%) R E(Z T T L F -
4.07%) I8 - EEBMAFTIBARESIGEERE
S A R PR B0 P A AR - M PIHE AR AR AR AR

At

MARERHEEIREREAS 2 EAIK B HA
BREAE R IR X DB MR e RR
BEAREIRZIANER - AAREMZ
HTREKRNEATE  AZSTAAEENE

BEANL - BEEALRAIAREARESRE -

B BB RE LB R OBEAL AR -
REERBEA LR AR LB T 0B AR
BALR 5 A RIS A LR 5 A S
n

Generally, the Group’s operating leases are for terms of one to
five years.

The Company did not have any significant commitments at 31
March 2009 and 2010.

40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

As at 31 March 2010, Leading Trade Limited, China Capital Holdings
Investment Limited and Cyber Concept Limited owned 20.04%
(2009: 20.06%), 31.14% (2009: 24.51%) and nil (2009: 4.07%) of the
Company’s shares respectively. These companies are under the control
of the Company’s directors, Mr. Lau Tak Wan and Ms. Chan Yuen Mei,
Pinky, who are collectively regarded as the ultimate controlling parties.

Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group or any
member of its key management personnel or their close family members
has the ability, directly or indirectly, to exercise significant influence over
the parties in making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa,
or where the Group and the parties are subject to common significant
influence. Related parties may be individuals or entities.

The following is a summary of significant related party transactions
entered into in the ordinary course of business between the Group
and its related parties and the balances arising form related party
transactions in addition to the related party information shown
elsewhere in the financial statements.
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40. EHEATXRF #) 40.

31 March 2010

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) HEREALZRS (a) Transactions with related parties
£H
Group
2= —ZTTN
2010 2009
Kz FET FAEIT
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
$HE T DSC (B2 /AF])  Sales to DSC (as an associated company) (i) 604 10,070
#HDSCHEE (Bt2 /A7)  Purchase from DSC (as an associated
company) (i) - (4,570)
NHeEHERSS Operating lease rental paid to 361 Alden Inc.
361 Alden Inc. (ii) 1,308 1,281
BRE(E), 4 FDSC  Goods return (from)/to DSC (as an
(Bt~ A]) associated company) (iii) (7,354) 9,241
et - Note:
(i) HDSCHIR ZEEREH R E A K (i) Sales and purchases with DSC are made based on mutually
e agreed terms.

(ii) 361 Alden Inc. B2I15:& ft £ KR
Bat(RAARER)ERES - &
BERERSHEH XRBERE °

(iii) FR - KERZDSCHHREINE
SHDSCREBM M MIE - BTIE
REHTREMMGR (R TH

(ii) 361 Alden Inc. is beneficially owned by Mr Lau Tak Wan and
Ms Chan Yuen Mei, Pinky, directors of the Company. Operating
lease rental expense is determined at rate mutually agreed

between the parties.

(ii) During the year, the Group agreed to accept return of certain
goods from DSC as partial settlement of the amount due from
DSC. These transactions are determined based on mutually

40(b)(ii)) agreed terms (also see Note 40 (b)(ii) below).
(b) SRERMEALEHRE (b)  Balances with related parties
£
Company

—2-% et
2010 2009
HieE FET FEIT
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
e nEENGIE Amounts due from subsidiaries (i) 291,759 294,442

AT

Group

=22 —TTh
2010 2009
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000
FEU DSC 38 Amount due from DSC (ii) 4,382 14,855
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40. ERAEAIRB 2 40.
(b) EREBIEALEE(Z) (b)
Hiat -

0] MEBARERSEER 28K
AREREEE -Z2BENBEA
B o

(ii) FEY DSCHRIBREXRRX HMELIL
AKX TARR @ USRI S 17 a0

31 March 2010

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Balances with related parties (continued)

Note:

(i) The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured and non—
interesting bearing, and are repayable on demand. These
amounts are denominated in HK$.

(ii) The amount due from DSC represents trading transactions with

the associated company which is denominated in US$. The

™ aging of these receivables are analysed as follows:
AT
Group

—Z2-F —TEh
2010 2009
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000
A N Less than 60 days - 3,436
ANTRE—BZTK 60 days to 120 days - 3,878
BBE—E=tX Over 120 days 4,382 7,541
4,382 14,855

RZTE—ZTFR-_TTAF=A
=+t—HB REEFRERKEXEE
38 B3 1B 37 SR (B 8 - B R ek
BERRRBAWEHREE - tF
FEYE S BRIBRIBRIR DATZA T ¢

As of 31 March 2010 and 2009, certain of the above receivables
were past due but not considered to be impaired as continuous cash
repayments have been received from the associated company on those
relevant receivables. The ageing analysis of these receivables is as
follows:

AT
Group
—F-7 —TETh
2010 2009
FET FEIT
HK$’000 HK$'000
60 HA - Overdue by:
DRINTR Less than 60 days — 25
ANTRE—BH=-tX 60 days to 120 days = 4,022
BB —A=TX Over 120 days 4,382 3,494
4,382 7,541
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(c) TEEEAS ZHRMH

e KRR
TEAT
RBRIRE — REMKEE
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31 March 2010

40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c) Key management compensation
NG|
Group
e —ZTTN
2010 2009
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
Salaries and allowances 7,698 7,869
Bonuses 620 1,293
Pension costs — defined contribution plans 338 344
8,656 9,506
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B REE 2 SHARE OPTION SCHEME

ARARCREBEBES MBI EmRADE17

EZ%EE R-ZZEZERENA+N\BEITZREREKX
AR BB AR AN R AR ST o

The Company has, in accordance with Chapter 17 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), adopted the
New Share Option Scheme, as approved by the Shareholders of the Company
at the Annual General Meeting held on 18 August 2005.
BTS2 BT - A summary of the principal terms of the New Share Option Scheme is set out
as below:

stBlZRE

MBERESB S ERBARR2EALAEHE
FREH 2 BB - R EAEE A BREREERE
BZBTURSIZHAKRE 2 CXBRARE
BZANER -

s

Purpose

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives
or rewards to Participants for their contribution to the Group and/or to
enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and to
attract human resources for the growth of the Group.

A2 8EA L 2, Who may join

RIRE AR Bl 55k « LA B E REHR On and subject to the terms of the New Share Option Scheme and

BT - i%%T%EﬁEZ‘%E1 L RERE T S the requirements of the Listing Rules, the Board may offer to grant an

ARS8 A Option to any Participant as the Board may in its absolute discretion
select.

BEEANIAEEAE2EAHNEERREEE The basis of eligibility of Participants to the grant of any Options shall

%F?X@&i'ﬁﬁﬂ’ﬁﬂjZEEWﬁx?&ELLEﬂ be determined by the directors from time to time on the basis of their

—f2 BREEREMBREER ZE contribution to the development and growth of the Group.

# o

BiTzBREROHE 3. Maximum number of Shares

(@) R B AR AT B R AN X B 2 AR LA
BEAEERHEHBHEFITERZE
RAEETEMAIETZ&EDRNEE
BRI FEEARRBPEEHTRAZ
30% °

(a) The maximum number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the New Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 30%
of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time.
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3.

BRITeBEROBE (&)
(0) 1R R R R B R AN R B 2 AT EL A B

PR B H 2 2 BUB R E(BE UL
W BERR BRI & R AR
Z AR E A A AR B 2 R ERREZ
R RHE ) JETT(E T AT 39T 2 AR D A 2K
BRENMSHEERNEBRBRERBHE
Pergst &2 BEETRMD 2 10% ([ —&
sHEIER]) -

ARR AR R RAERR RS LAt /ER
#—ARET &I LR KR E R AR RR
A REK - R ANIB R & KA
REZEMEMBREASBREZ2
SRR T M AT BT 2 AR D AR B
NMSHBBNZ LRELEZ A B HTR
0210% : M HZ ERE - RIEF
FE PR RT B R AN X ) 2 A AR EL A B A
SRR E R Z BRE(RRER
SRR AR R B AR B Z AR H b
IRHER BRI AT - Bt BIEER
BT ZBRE) STt EER -

AR A AR B T AR A ) AR B B
ERPRVBRAEG LA THER LS
B ARt E ER(IER) EX (c) |
Pt EFR 7 BB AR E T AR RIAES R
HefERTIEE 2 AR -
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

3. Maximum number of Shares (continued)

(b)

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options (excluding, for this purpose, options which have
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the New Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company)
to be granted under the New Share Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme of the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of approval of
the New Share Option Scheme (the “General Scheme Limit”).

The Company may refresh the General Scheme Limit from
time to time by obtaining approval of the shareholders of
the Company in general meeting and the issue of a circular
in compliance with Listing Rules to the shareholders of the
Company in connection therewith, provided that the total
number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the New Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company under
the limit as “refreshed” must not exceed 10% of the Shares in
issue as at the date of approval of the limit and for the purpose
of calculating the limit as “refreshed”, options previously granted
under the New Share Option Scheme or any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company (including those outstanding,
cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance with the New
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Company) will not be counted.

The Company may issue a circular in compliance with
Listing Rules to the shareholders of the Company and seek
separate approval by the shareholders of the Company in
general meeting to grant Options beyond the General Scheme
Limit or, if applicable, the limit referred to in (c) above to
Grantees specifically identified by the Company before such
approval is sought.
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&E2RETABZRESROHE

PAME] -+ {8 A BRI A - H 8T A AR =t &8l R
REZEMEMBREFIR TR2EEZE
BE(BEETE EEHEHRTEZBR
R)ETEMERTRARTZRMDER - T
SHEBARAERFEZETRAZ1% ([EA L
BR1) - tnBEFESTRHBREZ A HRE
(BREZBER) ZERN T _EARBET XL
SEEBBHEEA LR 2 BRE  BEAREL
AR ARRE R B R IR AR B ZBRRAE
RS MZB2EEREBEALTAR
ERERE -

RTBAEALTBRE

(@) RENBIRAEA SR LBRETART
ZEE  ARETBRAERARRZER
BRI M ES B 2 EMBEA LR
MRVIZER) - BARBIIERNTE
EPREEAATTRBREAZA
ZBNIFPITES AL

(b) HEHERTFARBZEERRIBL
FHTEERRESE ZEMBEAL
(2] ERARAIZER) 2 BIRHEGRRE
HZ EMES - som R E ERRRE
THHTESRRES B ZEMHEA
ITERTERE  BeERG=EEBKR
BzBLE+—EAANRR(BEZBEE
MIREETRER TRALRAMER
RERT & R AN R B 2 A K A BB A HE 5t
ZEEBREREETR BEHEK
] AR AT 168 2 il P ) SR AT (R T 3217 e
BT 2D

(i) REMH B BEITRMD Z201% A
i R

Maximum entitlement of each Participant

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted under the New Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company (including
exercised, cancelled or outstanding options) to each Participant in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital
of the Company at the time the Option is granted to the participant
(the “Individual Limit”). Any further grant of options in excess of the
Individual Limit in any 12-month period up to and including the date
of such further grant, shall be subject to the issue of a circular in
compliance with Listing Rules to the shareholders of the Company and
the shareholders approval in general meeting of the Company with such
Participant and his associates abstaining from voting.

Grant of options to connected persons

(a) Any grant of Options under the New Share Option Scheme
to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the
Company or any of their respective associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) must be approved by the independent non-
executive Directors (excluding any independent non-executive
Director who is the Grantee of the Options).

(b) Where any grant of Options to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director, or any of their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules), would result in the
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
already granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person under the New Share
Option Scheme and any other scheme(s) of the Company in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the total number
of Shares in issue; and
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BYEEALBRESE)
(b) (%)

(i) RERE L ERE 2 ARG K
MEAEZAERBLRAEE
JL

Al Bt BITREBRE 2 EERERRAME -
AR B AR MR H — B ° AR R ZFT
BREALTARBRRAG LREERRBKR
R MR REEA LA RBRERERE EHEH
RERBRRERE  BUAEZBRAERAL
AR - ERRBERAE LHER H El Bk
B2 EHORARETARR -

B ER

EABRERAN10BTERKE - HARE
R LB AR E R ET 28 B AR B AR AEZ
BERAD 2 BIRAER AT ERA - WEA
REXMI0OETIEREMBEREZKE  AIZ
BREERBRE BT EAT APTER -

TTER R

BBIRHE R B R T % B A B BE AR B A R 5T 8
ZIGRMATE - ERARETERERELF
Bz&E—H o

BRIEESTRERMSEERHE THAE
2R BAMERETEZABEREZ
AR -
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Grant of options to connected persons (continued)
(b) (continued)

(ii) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of
the Shares at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5
million;

such further grant of options must be approved by the shareholders
of the Company. The Company must send a circular in compliance
with Listing Rules to the shareholders of the Company. All connected
persons of the Company must abstain from voting on the relevant
resolution at such general meeting, except that any such connected
person may vote against the relevant resolution at the general meeting
provided that his intention to do so has been stated in the circular. Any
vote taken at the meeting to approve the grant of such Options must be
taken on a poll.

Payment on acceptance of Option offer

A consideration of HK$10 is payable on acceptance of the offer of
grant of an Option. An offer for the grant of an Option shall be deemed
to have been accepted when the duplicate letter of the offer is duly
completed, signed and returned to the Company with payment of
HK$10 as consideration within 28 days from the date of offer.

Exercise of an Option

An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
New Share Option Scheme at any time during the five-year period
commencing immediately from the date of grant and expiring on the
last day of the five-year period.

Unless the Directors otherwise determined and are stated in the offer
of grant of Options to a Participant, there are no minimum period for
which an option must be held before it can be exercised.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

8.

10.

Performance target

Unless the Directors otherwise determined and are stated in the offer of
grant of Options to a Participant, a Participant is not required to achieve
any performance targets before any Options granted under the New
Share Option Scheme can be exercised.

Subscription price for Shares

The Subscription Price under the New Share Option Scheme shall be
a price determined by the directors and notified to a Participant at the
time of the offer of grant, and shall not be lower than the highest of:

(a) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of the offer of
grant, which must be a business day;

(b) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant; and

(c) the nominal value of the Shares for the time being.

Ranking of Shares

The Shares to be allotted upon the exercise of an Option will be subject
to all the provisions of the Company’s Bye-Laws for the time being in
force and will rank pari passu with the fully paid Shares in issue on the
date of allotment and accordingly will entitle the holders to participate
in all dividends or other distributions paid or made on or after the date
of allotment other than any dividend or other distributions previously
declared or recommended or resolved to be paid or made if the record
date therefor shall be before the date of allotment.

139 ANBEEERERARQA

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited



AR R &

Share Option Information

fB IR ot &l o)

11.

12.

13.

4% B IR RS RS 2 BRI

BERENSREND ZEMHHIEHATSRER
BARAER  THELETERE BEE Lt
ALRENDH 2 EHNEERE LBEMABL - L
HREE()AIERRRZPRXEFEXS
MBETEFTSFHLA « K ()RBEARRD R B
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Al —EAREAMERZ B IEHRA

BB AR RE ST Bl 2 B R
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

11.

12.

13.

Restrictions on the time of grant of options

A grant of Options may not be made after a price sensitive event
has occurred or a price sensitive matter has been the subject of a
decision until such price sensitive information has been published in
the newspapers. In particular, the Board shall not offer the grant of an
Option to any Participant during the period commencing one month
immediately preceding the earlier of (i) the date of the meeting of the
Directors for the approval of the Company’s interim or annual results,
and (ii) the last date on which the Company must publish its interim or
annual results announcement under its listing agreement with the Stock
Exchange and ending on the date of the announcement of the results.

Period of the New Share Option Scheme

The New Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective for a period
of 5 years commencing on the date on which the New Share Option
Scheme become unconditional, after which no further Options will
be issued, and thereafter for so long as there are outstanding any
unexercised Options granted pursuant thereto and in order to give
effect to the exercise of any such Options or otherwise as may be
required in accordance with the provisions of the New Share Option
Scheme.

The life of the New Share Option Scheme
The New Share Option Scheme will remain in force until 17 August

2010, subject to approval by shareholders to adopt the New Share
Option Scheme at the annual general meeting.
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